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LEVEL 2, 40 MACQUARIE STREET, BARTON ACT 2600

The Hon Christopher Pyne MP
Minister for Defence
Parliament House
CANBERRA ACT 2600

Dear Minister

The Council of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute has pleasure in submitting to you the 
annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018.

The report is presented to you in accordance with section 97 of the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Act 2013.

The report has been prepared to conform with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
and was approved by the Council at its meeting on 31 August 2018.

Yours sincerely

Lt Gen (Ret’d) Kenneth Gillespie AC DSC CSM

Chairman

31 August 2018
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MESSAGE FROM THE ASPI CHAIRMAN 
AND THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

ASPI turned 17 in August 2018 and, as the institute looks forward soon to its third decade of 
activities, it is timely to consider the reasons why the Australian Government established ASPI 
in the first place. The institute’s company constitution sets out these core objects:

The company’s object is to function as a strategic policy research centre, independent of 
Government, providing policy-relevant research and analysis to better inform Government 
decisions and public understanding of strategic and defence issues, by: (a) Conducting and 
publishing research on issues related to Australia’s strategic and defence policy choices; 
(b) Preparing policy inputs on strategic and defence issues to Government, as requested 
by Government, subject to funding; (c) Conducting a program of activities to increase 
understanding of strategic and defence policy issues among Australians, and to encourage 
the development of expertise in topics relevant to Australia’s strategic and defence 
policy choices; and (d) Promoting international understanding of Australia’s strategic and 
defence policy perspectives.

The ASPI team works to achieve these objectives with great enthusiasm. At a time when 
Australia faces an increasingly risky and difficult strategic environment, the need for what 
former Prime Minister John Howard called ‘contestability in policy advice’ has never been more 
apparent. ASPI takes no corporate positions on any policy matters and seeks to promote a 
range of views argued with clarity and absolute independence.

This annual report covers ASPI’s activities over the 2017–18 financial year. ASPI has been an 
active participant in some at times quite sharp debates about the growing power of China, 
the unconventional nature of the Trump administration, global terrorism and defence 
developments. We have researched and made strikingly original contributions to policy debates 
on cybersecurity, on Australia’s growing interest in commercial and military aspects of space, 
on defence spending and budgets and on counterterrorism at both state and federal levels. 
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ASPI staff were regularly engaged by parliamentary committees, submitting papers and 
giving evidence on matters as diverse as shipbuilding, North Korea, the Indian Ocean region, 
critical infrastructure protection and a raft of legislation strengthening Australia’s protections 
against espionage and foreign interference. We also work with a broad range of government 
departments and agencies. Institute staff are often sought out for policy advice and to help 
shape policy thinking.

2017–18 was a tumultuous year in global and regional security policy, which often meant that 
ASPI analysts were at the forefront of commenting and advising on Australian policy options 
in some sensitive and complicated areas. The consolidation of Donald Trump’s ‘America first’ 
policy approach led some of our analysts to ask whether the time had arrived for Australia to 
develop a ‘plan B’ for defence planning that went beyond our close military alliance with the 
US. ASPI staff also focused closely on the rise of a more authoritarian ‘recentralised’ Chinese 
Communist Party leadership in Beijing under President Xi Jinping. They pointed to the dangers 
of Australia becoming too economically dependent on the People's Republic of China and on 
the risks of Chinese Communist Party/State covert influencing in Australian political life.

Our analysts continued to ask probing questions about the strengths and weaknesses of 
Australian military capability acquisitions. There is a deep public interest in the SEA 1000 
project to acquire new submarines as well as multi-billion-dollar projects for Army land 
vehicles, new major surface combatants for the Navy and the Joint Strike Fighter, P8 maritime 
surveillance aircraft and other platforms for the Air Force. While ASPI takes no corporate 
position per se on any of these acquisitions, the institute aims to make informed and if 
necessary critical commentary about key defence capability projects.
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In its commentary and advice on these and many other policy areas, ASPI demonstrates daily 
its capacity to make independent and informed commentary on the most critical strategic 
policy issues challenging our nation’s policymakers.

The institute continues to grow. We have taken on a wider range of training and professional 
development activities, including offering new courses aimed at military personnel and others 
working in national security roles. We see this as an important contribution to developing the 
next generation of strategic thinkers.

In 2017–18, ASPI was contracted to provide advice to the NSW Government, specifically the 
Minister for Counter Terrorism, the Hon David Elliott MP, on improving counterterrorism. 
We are pleased to report that the state government is already implementing 
several recommendations.

ASPI was again ranked as one of the world’s best think tanks in the University of Pennsylvania’s 
2017 Global Go To Think Tank Index (released in January 2018), the annual assessment of 
excellence in think tank performance around the world. ASPI has climbed the index from 
12th to 11th in the ‘Top defense and national security think tanks’ category, making the institute 
the highest ranked defence and national security think tank in Australia, and behind only a 
handful of large American and British institutes.

ASPI works to further the careers of women in the defence and security community. We do this 
through our Women in Defence and Security Network (WDSN), which aims to enhance the 
professional skills and abilities of women and increase their professional networks. The WDSN 
has increased its digital platform over the past year, profiling a diverse range of women 
working in the sector, while continuing to run networking events for women in Canberra. 
The network’s largest event in 2017–18 connected 300 guests with 29 senior professionals 
working in the defence and security sector for ‘speed mentoring’ sessions. Due to high 
demand, the WDSN will now host speed mentoring events in several cities.

In a year of transitions, ASPI farewelled Mark Thomson who had for 16 years produced our 
annual Cost of Defence study and Andrew Davies who, over 12 years, produced definitive 
work on Australia’s air, maritime and land force capabilities. Emeritus Fellow Kim Beazley 
reluctantly left to become Governor of Western Australia. All three made major contributions 
to the institute.



We note with great sadness the passing in April 2018 of Jocelyn Newman AO, a senator for 
Tasmania and Minister for Social Security, Minister assisting the Prime Minister for the Status 
of Women and Minister for Family and Community Services during the Howard governments. 
Jocelyn was an inaugural member of the ASPI Council from 2001 to 2006 and was passionate 
about the roles and purpose of the institute. ASPI also lost a good friend in November 2017 
when Major General Michael Clifford AM CSC passed away. Mike had been a senior fellow at 
ASPI and was deeply committed to Australia, the Army and innovative thinking. He is much 
missed by us all.

This annual report details well over a hundred public events run by ASPI, 48 substantial 
research publications and thousands of articles on our ASPI Strategist site. We remain grateful 
to our growing number of commercial partners and sponsors, who are listed in this report.

We commend this report to you.

Kenneth Gillespie 
(Chairman)

   Message from the ASPI Chairman and the Executive Director    ix

Peter Jennings 
(Executive Director)





CHAPTER 1 OVERVIEW
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Established by the Australian Government in 2001, the Australian Strategic Policy Institute 
(ASPI) has established itself as a trusted source of analysis and advice on defence, strategic 
policy and national security to government and the public. ASPI’s constitution, charter and 
corporate plan guide the institute’s focus. As the international environment has changed since 
ASPI’s establishment, that focus has broadened from defence through to a range of other 
strategic and national security areas.

Since its inception, the institute has developed into one of the leading independent research 
bodies in Australia. ASPI is unique in the scope of its research, capacity, expertise and ability to 
independently engage across official and public domains. The institute is recognised nationally 
and internationally for its significant contributions to important policy debates.

ASPI was again ranked as one of the world’s best think tanks in the University of Pennsylvania’s 
2016 Global Go To Think Tank Index, the gold standard of annual assessment of excellence in 
think tank performance around the world. ASPI featured in many of the notable rankings this 
year. We improved our rank from 12th to 11th in the ‘Top defense and national security think 
tanks’ category, making ASPI the highest ranked defence and national security think tank 
in Australia.

ASPI operates out of an office in Canberra, employing 40 staff (as at 30 June 2018). 
ASPI employs a mixture of full-time, part-time and causal staff. ASPI also engages a number 
of experts as Visiting and Non-resident Fellows.

ASPI’s work covers all aspects of national decision-making related to Australia’s defence and 
security interests and whole-of-government policy responses, with an emphasis on political, 
economic and military security.

During 2017–18, Senator the Honourable Marise Payne was the Minister for Defence, to whom 
we report. We thank her for her active support of the institute and thank the Opposition and 
parliament for their engagement with the institute.
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PURPOSES

As outlined in our constitution, ASPI’s objective is to function as a strategic policy research 
centre, independent of government, providing policy-relevant research and analysis to better 
inform government decisions and public understanding of strategic and defence issues.

Four specific purposes are included in ASPI’s constitution and reflected in our corporate plan:

• Conducting and publishing research on issues related to Australia’s strategic and defence 
policy choices

• Preparing policy inputs on strategic and defence issues to government, as requested by 
government, subject to funding

• Conducting a program of activities to increase understanding of strategic and defence 
policy issues among Australians, and to encourage the development of expertise in topics 
relevant to Australia’s strategic and defence policy choices

• Promoting international understanding of Australia’s strategic and defence 
policy perspectives.

Conducting and publishing research

The institute produces a range of publications throughout the year dealing with the spectrum 
of strategic and defence policy challenges and wider national security issues. In 2017–18, 
we produced a total of 48 publications. Detailed information about the full range of ASPI 
publications, including examples of media coverage, is in Chapter 3 and Annex A.

All ASPI publications are available for free download from our website. We have expanded our 
readership base worldwide, and there have been over half a million downloads of publications 
around the world since the introduction of free PDF downloads in 2007.

The ASPI annual report has previously focused on the total cumulative number of downloads 
of our publications as PDF documents as a key performance metric. For many years, this has 
been a valid measurement of the consumption of our analysis, but that is changing.

In addition to traditional PDF downloads, we now publish a range of ‘mid-length’ analysis 
pieces that are formatted to be read online using desktop PCs, phones, mobile devices and 
tablets. The online readership of these new format reports has been included in this year’s 
cumulative total of 504,096 downloads and reads (Figure 1).
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Figure 1: Cumulative total downloads of ASPI publications since the introduction of free 
PDF downloads in 2007
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ASPI continues to enjoy a substantial presence in the media landscape through our daily online 
publication, The Strategist, which allows us to examine contemporary security issues in a way 
that is consistent with our reputation for considered analysis. A major benefit is the ability to 
publish the views of analysts and commentators on current ‘hot topics’ quickly and in their 
own words, rather than through a media filter. The Strategist routinely attracts an average of 
2,600 readers per day and has more than 3,000 daily subscribers and 4,300 weekly subscribers.

The Strategist pieces have been quoted in other media reporting on numerous occasions. 
The Strategist is a useful vehicle for the media to easily identify ASPI analysts with 
particular subject matter expertise, so pieces often lead to interviews. During 2017–18, we 
published 1,046 articles from 285 individual authors, covering all of the major areas of ASPI’s 
research interests.

ASPI staff are also frequent contributors to academic journals and other external publications. 
A list of selected external publications is in Annex B.
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Contributing to government policy

ASPI’s contribution to government policy thinking occurs at many different levels. More 
formally, the following submissions were provided during the year.

• Inquiry into Australia’s trade and investment relationships with countries in Africa—
September 2017 (submission by Anthony Bergin and Sofia Patel)

• Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Committee inquiry into the Implications of 
Climate Change for Australia’s National Security (submission by Dr Paul Barnes, who also 
appeared as a witness)

• Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security, review of the National Security 
Legislation Amendment (Espionage and Foreign Interference) Bill 2017 and the Foreign 
Influence Transparency Scheme Bill 2017—January 2018 (two submissions by Peter Jennings).

More informally, ASPI senior staff engage frequently in meetings with parliamentarians and 
senior bureaucrats to discuss a range of policy options.

Defence research projects

A portion of the funds received from the Department of Defence is directed to mutually 
agreed Defence-specific projects. During the year, those projects focused on:

• the US and China and the rules-based global order

• the threat of terrorism and foreign terrorist fighters, combined with Islam and Southeast Asia

• state fragility

• military modernisation

• cyber and space, non-geographical threats

• Russia—the disruptor

• energy versus power and its effect on security

• Trump.
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Participation in government advisory committees and expert panels

Recognised for their expertise, ASPI staff have been invited to participate in a number of 
Australian Government advisory committees and expert panels, which include:

• Department Foreign Affairs and Trade Advisory Group on Australia–Africa Relations

• Australian–German Advisory Group

• external contributor to the Office of National Intelligence national assessment process

• the review of the National Cyber Security Strategy.

Level of involvement by other Australian Government entities in  
ASPI research programs

While ASPI’s core funding for defence work comes from the Department of Defence, funding 
from other government entities has grown significantly over the past four years. This has 
allowed us to expand the National Security Program’s areas of research, to undertake specific 
training programs and to deliver contracted research and analysis. The commitment of other 
government agencies to funding ASPI for these programs demonstrates their confidence in our 
ability to provide high-quality, independent analysis and advice.

During 2017–18, we received additional funds from:

• the Attorney-General’s Department

• the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

• the Department of Immigration and Border Protection

• Emergency Management Australia

• Prime Minister and Cabinet

• NSW Premier and Cabinet

• ACT Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development Directorate

These funds contributed to the following research programs:

• International Cyber Policy Centre

• Border Security Program

• Risk and Resilience Program

• Counter-Terrorism Policy Centre

• Better Policy and Defence Graduate programs.
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Increasing understanding of and developing expertise in strategic and 
defence policy

Events

ASPI reaches a range of different audiences through a program of public and invitation-only 
events. During 2017–18, we conducted a total of 108 events, which included roundtable 
discussions, masterclasses and seminars attended by Australian and international participants. 
ASPI events made a valuable contribution to discussions about defence and national security 
issues in Australia.

Details about the full range of events that ASPI organises are in Chapter 4 and Annex D.

Media commentary

ASPI continues to play an important role in the media as part of our strategy for encouraging 
and informing public debate.

Every week, ASPI staff are contacted to provide comments or be interviewed for radio or 
television on the full range of research program areas. This amounts to hundreds of interviews 
throughout the year and reflects the standing that ASPI has established with the media as a 
credible and reliable source of information on what are often very complex issues.

As well as comments and interviews, 103 opinion pieces by ASPI staff were published in 
national and international newspapers during 2017–18. A list of the opinion pieces is in 
Annex C. Examples of media coverage and contributions to the national debate through our 
publications are in Chapter 3.

ASPI communication channels

ASPI uses a number of different tools to communicate research and analysis to a broad 
audience. In addition to the website and The Strategist, each element of our social media 
presence is designed to provide a unique user experience, and each channel complements 
the others.

Website and The Strategist

In 2017–18, ASPI’s website was visited 212,104 times. Australians remain the largest consumers 
of our online research information and account for nearly 62% of all web visits. Table 1 shows 
visits from the top 10 countries of origin.
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Table 1: Visitors to the ASPI website, by country of origin, 2017–18

Country Total top 10: 95,170 Percentage of total

1. Australia 69,999 62.12

2. United States 11,626 10.32

3. United Kingdom 3,678 3.26

4. Canada 1,651 1.47

5. New Zealand 1,601 1.42

6. Singapore 1,473 1.31

7. India 1,412 1.25

8. China 1,362 1.21

9. Japan 1,255 1.11

10. France 1,113 1.00

Only around 42% of the readers of The Strategist in 2017–18 came from Australia. The top 10 
countries of origin of readers differed slightly from those visiting the website (Table 2).

Table 2: Visitors to The Strategist, by country of origin, 2017–18

Country Total top 10: 442,352 Percentage of total

1. Australia 225,366 42.44

2. United States 109,873 20.69

3. United Kingdom 21,776 4.10

4. India 18,389 3.46

5. Canada 13,506 2.54

6. Philippines 10,940 2.06

7. Indonesia 19,916 2.06

8. Singapore 10,076 1.90

9. New Zealand 6,298 1.19

10. Malaysia 6,212 1.17

Visits to the website increased by 27.8%, from 160,194 in 2016–17 to 212,104 in 2017–18.

Visits to The Strategist grew by 19.8%, from 796,276 in 2016–17 to 971,979 in 2017–18.
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Figure 2 shows visits to the ASPI website and The Strategist by month during the year.

Figure 2: Visits to the ASPI website and The Strategist, by month, 2017–18
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Twitter—@ASPI_org

We use Twitter to inform followers of newly released reports, articles and The Strategist pieces, 
as well as to alert audiences to ASPI events and other developments. We ‘live tweet’ updates, 
images and quotes to Australian and international followers in near real time during ASPI 
public events. Our Twitter followers increased by 28% to 17,800 in 2017–18, compared to  
13,900 in 2016–17.

Facebook

On Facebook, we post information about ASPI, internship opportunities, images, videos, event 
updates, news, newly released publications and The Strategist posts. Our Facebook followers 
increased to 19,407 in 2017–18, an increase of 14% from 18,004 in 2016–17.

Figure 3 shows the significant growth in the numbers of ASPI’s Twitter and Facebook followers 
over the past four years.
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Figure 3: Twitter followers and Facebook likes, 2013–14 to 2017–18
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YouTube

ASPI’s YouTube channel continues to attract an increasing viewership from across the globe. 
Australian views are naturally the most prominent, making up 46% of our audience, followed 
by the US (15%) and Indonesia (6%). Our total number of video views for the year has increased 
by 7% to 61,400, and total subscriber numbers have increased by 10%. With advances in video 
technology, however, YouTube is not the only streaming video channel available, and we have 
been publishing selected videos to Twitter and Facebook. Those channels prefer more concise 
material, so our video format is evolving to match their requirements. The 10 top countries of 
origin of viewers are shown in Table 3.
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Table 3: YouTube video consumption, 2017–18

Country Views Percentage of total

1. Australia 22,125 37.0

2. Indonesia 12,508 21.0

3. United States 6,748 11.0

4. United Kingdom 2,477 4.1

5. India 1,362 2.2

6. Malaysia 1,298 2.1

7. Canada 932 1.5

8. Philippines 760 1.3

9. Germany 579 1.0

10. New Zealand 579 1.0

ASPI Professional Development

ASPI is committed to fostering the next generation of strategic policy thinkers and plays an 
active role in professional development for government clients, particularly the Department 
of Defence. Strategically located in the parliamentary triangle, ASPI Professional Development 
(ASPI-PD) offers an array of services for government clients in specialised areas of defence, 
strategy and national security. Our professional development programs are flexible, are 
responsive to client requirements and can be tailored for every department and organisation.

The programs that ASPI-PD provides are highly interactive and tailored to participants’ needs. 
All programs use reality-based contexts in which participants grapple with exciting and 
relevant policy challenges, guided by some of Australia’s most experienced policy practitioners 
and thinkers on these subjects.

ASPI-PD also works with state and territory departments and organisations to enhance 
essential skills associated with policy, strategic planning and decision-making in specific 
national security contexts.

Over the past 12 months, ASPI-PD has focused on three main outcomes:

• maintaining the relevance and high quality of programs delivered within current contracts

• designing, developing and delivering new services such as facilitation of policy development, 
strategic planning, operational reviews, discussion exercises and red teaming

• working with new clients to win and deliver significant contracts.
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Internships

The ASPI paid internship program gives recent graduates an opportunity to contribute to 
ASPI research projects and also to conduct their own research projects for future publication, 
either by ASPI or independently. By attending many of ASPI’s events, they make contact with 
senior officials, researchers and diplomats from Canberra and elsewhere as they begin to form 
professional networks for their careers in strategic policy.

A strong field of capable applicants applies twice a year for internships. During 2017–18, ASPI 
employed eight interns in two intakes for six-month placements.

Interns make important contributions to research projects, publications and The Strategist and 
gain hands-on experience in strategic policy development. Examples of reports, publications 
and The Strategist articles authored by or contributed to by interns in 2017–18 included:

• Publication—The cost of Defence: ASPI defence budget Brief 2018–2019

• Publication—Who funds federal parliamentarians’ overseas travel?

• Publication—People smugglers globally, 2017

• Publication—The internet of insecure things

• Publication—Cyber maturity in the Asia–Pacific region 2017

• Weekly wraps—Five domains wrap and national security wrap

• Monthly wraps—Women, peace and security

Promoting international understanding of Australia’s strategic and 
defence policy perspectives

ASPI’s standing as a respected source of analysis is recognised both internationally and 
domestically. This can be measured by our international ranking in a global index of think 
tanks, being selected to co-host Track 1.5 dialogues with international institutions and 
government partners on a regular basis, strengthening links with overseas think tanks 
through exchanges and fellowships and being invited to speak at international conferences.

Readers from around the world are increasingly accessing our website and The Strategist, and 
our counterparts in other countries help us to foster the next generation of strategic policy 
thinkers by inviting our staff to attend their meetings and conferences. In 2017–18, we received 
invitations from:

• Heritage Foundation’s Quadrilateral Security Dialogue meeting in Tokyo (along 
with Heritage of the US, the Japanese Institute of International Affairs and India’s 
Vivekananda International Foundation)
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• S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies (RSIS) to give the distinguished visitor 
dinner speech at its annual Asia–Pacific Programme for Senior National Security Officers 
in Singapore

• the inaugural Australian–Indonesian–US Trilateral Dialogue at the Center for Strategic and 
International Studies in Washington DC.

ASPI’s International Cyber Policy Centre engaged in considerable cyber capacity-building 
in the ASEAN region and globally. The centre facilitated exercises at ASEAN risk reduction 
workshops in Singapore and Bangkok; led and coordinated nine ASEAN think tanks to develop 
practical recommendations for regional confidence-building measures in cyberspace; ran two 
cyber policy development workshops for the Indonesian Government; and facilitated a cyber 
confidence-building workshop in Vienna for the Organization for Security and Co-operation 
in Europe.

ASPI runs a regular Track 1.5 cyber dialogue in partnership with the Center for Strategic and 
International Studies, which the Prime Minister has twice led. ASPI also partnered with the 
Council on Foreign Relations, the International Institute for Strategic Studies and the Mercator 
Institute for China Studies to conduct a global review of China’s adherence to its agreements to 
refrain from commercial cyber espionage.

The International Cyber Policy Centre also accepted invitations from organisations in the 
Philippines, the US, Japan, South Korea and a number of European countries to speak at various 
cyber and international security conferences and workshops.

International ranking

ASPI has improved its ranking from 12th to 11th in the ‘Top defense and national security think 
tanks’ category in the University of Pennsylvania’s 2017 Global Go To Think Tank Index, making 
us the highest ranked defence and national security think tank in Australia.

Links with overseas think tanks

Our links with overseas think tanks take a number of forms. We engage formally through 
hosting or co-hosting a range of Track 1.5 dialogues, exchanges or visiting fellowships, 
co-writing publications, and visits to the institutes. The think tanks we engage with include:

• the International Peace Institute (New York)

• Hedayah (Abu Dhabi)

• the Center for Strategic and International Studies (US)

• the Council on Foreign Relations (US)

• New America (US)



14    ASPI Annual Report 2017–2018   

• the Citizen Lab, Munk School of Global Affairs, University of Toronto (Canada)

• the Center for New American Security (US)

• the Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung (Germany)

• the Mercator Institute for China Studies (Germany)

• the Centre of Excellence for National Security, S. Rajaratnam School of International Studies 
(Singapore)

• the Institute for Strategic and International Studies (Malaysia)

• the Centre for Strategic and International Studies (Indonesia)

• the Sultan Haji Hassanal Bolkiah Institute of Defence and Strategic Studies (Brunei 
Darussalam)

• ICT Faculty, Mahidol University (Thailand)

• the Cyber Security Lab, University of Computer Sciences (Myanmar)

• the Institute for Cooperation and Peace (Cambodia)

• the Diplomatic Academy (Vietnam)

• Stratbase ADR Institute for Strategic and International Studies (Philippines)

Visiting Fellows

Expert Visiting Fellows exchange information and engage with ASPI, deepening our 
understanding of a range of domestic and international defence and national security matters. 
In 2017–18, four Visiting Fellows were on secondment in the ASPI office:

• Anne Lyons—Australian National Archives (January–December 2018)

• Lieutenant Colonel Micah Batt—Army Visiting Fellow (January–December 2017)

• Tom Uren—Department of Defence (May 2017 – December 2018)

• Major Nathan Finney—US Army Visiting Fellow (June–December 2017).

In addition, ASPI appoints people with long and distinguished careers as Visiting Fellows. 
They produce a range of written analyses, contribute to ASPI program areas and provide 
mentoring for staff. The 11 ASPI Visiting Fellows are:

• Kim Beazley AC—Distinguished Fellow

• Stephen Loosley AM—Senior Fellow

• Stephen Merchant PSM—Visiting Fellow

• Campbell Darby—Visiting Fellow

• Vern White—International Fellow

• Robert Glasser—Visiting Fellow
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• Catherine McGregor—Visiting Fellow

• Elsa Kanie—Non-resident Fellow

• Chris Painter—Distinguished Non-resident Fellow

• Major Nathan Finney—US Army Non-resident Fellow

International dialogues

ASPI supports Australian diplomacy by conducting regular Track 1.5 and Track 2 dialogues with 
international institutions and government partners. During the year, we were involved in 
organising 11 international dialogues, while staff, ASPI Council members or Fellows attended 
seven dialogues overseas (Table 4).

Table 4: International Track 1.5 and Track 2 dialogues, 2017–18

No. Date Name of Dialogue

1 31 October – 4 November ASPI–BESA Beersheba Dialogue

2 November ASPI – Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Counter- 
Terrorism Dialogue

3 3–4 May Australia–Indonesia–US Trilateral

Invitations to speak at international conferences

ASPI’s international standing is reflected in the number of invitations that staff receive to 
speak at international conferences. In 2017–18, they spoke at more than 15 international 
conferences in Europe, Asia, the Middle East, Africa, the US and Australia, often with travel 
assistance provided by the host institution. Further details are in Annex D.

STAFFING

At 30 June 2018, ASPI employed 40 staff: 35 were permanent staff, 5 worked part time and 
5 worked on a casual basis.

During the year, 19 new staff joined ASPI and 12 departed. There were also two intakes of 
four interns during the year.

Figure 4 shows our organisational structure at 30 June 2018.
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Figure 4: Organisational structure at 30 June 2018
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FUNDING

Department of Defence

A significant proportion of ASPI’s income comes from the Australian Government through the 
Department of Defence. The funding agreement with Defence ends on 30 June 2018.

Australian Government funding remains the key enabler of ASPI operations and covers much 
of our annual employee costs and operating overheads and those elements of the research and 
events programs that are defined in the funding agreement.

Figure 5: Department of Defence core funding as a proportion of ASPI’s total income, 
2000–01 to 2017–18
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Other sources of funding

The government requires ASPI to develop funding options in addition to the Defence funding 
agreement to enable the institute to grow and pursue additional research. With the growth of 
ASPI’s areas of research, the percentage of income provided by Defence has been diminishing 
(Figure 5). Our wider work on non-Defence national security is sustained by other sources 
of funding, most notably other government entities, through contributions for specific 
program areas or projects (shown as ‘Partnerships and projects’ in Figure 6) and from private 
sector sponsorship.
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Figure 6: Sources of income other than Department of Defence core funding,  
2002–03 to 2017–18
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Sponsorship is also an important source of additional funding for ASPI and is the key enabler 
for many events. We have worked hard to secure sponsors and in 2017–18 continued to foster 
deeper relationships with sponsors through our corporate sponsorship program. Under 
the program, ASPI seeks continuing commitments from private enterprises that share our 
objectives for national security and public debate, while unambiguously maintaining our 
independence in research, publications, advice and comment.

Other additional income derives from event registration fees, the Corporate Supporter 
Program and interest on retained funds (‘Other’ in Figure 6).
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Corporate sponsors during 2017–18 were:

• .au Domain

• Airbus Group

• AirPower professional development RAAF

• ANU National Security College

• Australian Computer Society

• Australian Mission to the United Nations

• Australian Security Industry Association

• BAE

• Boeing

• Commonwealth Bank of Australia

• CSIRO

• DCNS

• DXC

• Emergency Management Australia

• Engineers Australia

• Jacobs Australia

• KPMG

• Lockheed Martin

• Luerssen

• Macquarie Telecom

• MBDA

• MBDA France

• Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs

• Northrop Grumman

• Oracle Australia

• Palo Alto Networks

• Pratt Foundation

• Queensland Fire and Emergency Services

• RAAF Wagga School of 
Post-graduate Studies

• Rafael Australia

• Raytheon

• SA Space Industry Centre

• Saab Australia

• Senetas Corporation Limited

• Telstra

• Thales

• Unisys

Members of the ASPI Corporate Supporter Program during 2017–18 were:

• ViaSat

• Cubic Defence Australia Pty Ltd

• Taipei Economic and Cultural Office 
in Australia

• CAE Australia

• CEA Technologies Pty Limited

• General Atomics Australia

• Safran Pacific Pty Ltd

• International SOS

• Broadspectrum

• Beca Pty Ltd

• The Treasury

• United Arab Emirates Military Attaché 
Office, Canberra
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In 2017–18, ASPI’s core work in the strategic policy field focused on broad strategic policy 
settings, the global and regional security environments, the operational needs of the 
Australian Defence Force (ADF), the development of defence capabilities, and issues associated 
with defence funding and budgets. Over the years, ASPI has made nationally recognised 
contributions in all those fields. They remain central to our work agenda even as we expand to 
embrace new programs and responsibilities.

Research staff conduct their work in program areas organised under two themes:

• Defence and Strategy

• National Security.

DEFENCE AND STRATEGY

Defence and Strategy Program

Michael Shoebridge
Anthony Bergin
Malcolm Davis
Marcus Hellyer
Huong Le Thu
Rod Lyon

The Defence and Strategy Program analyses strategic trends and the role of military  
force, including:

• the strategic impact of economic, demographic and other trends

• how changing power relativities and new ways of projecting coercive military and economic 
power affect strategic relationships, military calculations and risks, and national interests

• the role of conventional and nuclear weapons in the 21st century and the emergence of 
disruptive new technologies with military and security applications.

The program also analyses the capability of the ADF and the broader Defence organisation 
through all stages of the capability life cycle, including by:

• assessing how changes in both the strategic environment and the technologies available for 
defence uses affect force design and structure considerations

• identifying requirements for future capability

• analysing competing options for materiel and other investment solutions
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• tracking the progress of programs and projects in the Integrated Investment Program

• exploring issues related to ADF personnel matters, including recruitment, retention 
and training

• assessing ADF capability against regional militaries.

The program also analyses the management of the Defence organisation and assesses 
Australia’s defence budgets and the wider range of activities required to produce and support 
the ADF’s capabilities. This includes:

• defence funding over the short and long terms

• policies and capabilities of the defence industry, with a focus on the implementation of the 
new suite of defence industry policies and programs

• project management strategies

• defence economic trends, especially as they apply to materiel.

The balance of state power across the entire Indo-Pacific has been shifting rapidly over the 
past four years, and in 2017–18 the deterioration in Australia’s strategic environment was 
subject to much analysis and some focused government policy and decisions. ASPI’s 2017–18 
work program addressed these issues, notably with a key publication titled Australia’s 
management of strategic risk in the new era. We complemented this work with publications 
on whether Australia should join ASEAN; Australian and New Zealand obligations relevant 
to a Korean Peninsula security crisis; a Special Report on New Zealand, Australia and the 
ANZUS alliance; and publications on Russia’s resurgence as a regional and global security 
actor. Publications from ASPI’s International Cyber Policy Centre demonstrated the deepening 
connections between authoritarian state power, technological advances (in areas such as 
big data, web censorship and technological entanglement) and future strategic and military 
advantage. This partnership between the strategy and cyber elements in ASPI adds depth to 
our strategic analysis.

The Defence and Strategy Program continued to produce and commission papers on regional 
and global strategic trends. Among a broad range of topics, the US and China were key topics 
covered during the year through The Strategist, particularly the security and defence directions 
of China under President Xi, the implications of the policies and decisions of the US under the 
Trump administration, and strategic issues for Australia in the South Pacific. China’s interests 
in Antarctica were the subject of a Special Report. The deepening strategic partnership 
between Australia and France was assessed in a Strategy Report that looked at dimensions of 
the relationship beyond the submarine program. Given the importance of the Philippines to 
regional security, notably because of its position on the South China Sea, President Duterte’s 
approach to balancing his country’s relationships with China, the US, Japan and other partners 
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was assessed through a Special Report, which also covered the difficulties of engaging with the 
Philippines in light of Duterte’s controversial anti-drug campaign.

During 2017–18, the Defence and Strategy Program produced reports that provide a point of 
reference for discussions of Australia’s defence policies and capabilities. ASPI’s annual The cost 
of Defence budget brief has long been the ‘go to’ publication for understanding the nation’s 
defence spending. It was produced in a new format focusing on the key questions for those 
wanting to understand Defence from a parliamentary, policymaking or industry perspective 
and has been in high demand since its release. The cost of Defence devoted considerable 
analysis both to industry policy and to the ship and submarine programs because of the scale 
of investment in those capabilities. That focus on naval shipbuilding was maintained in other 
ASPI reports over the year: a Strategic Insight on the Offshore Patrol Vessel Program and a 
Strategic Insight on the Future Frigate Program were released in advance of government 
decision-making. Numerous Strategist pieces analysed elements of the Naval Shipbuilding 
Program and related defence industry policies.

Australia’s future policies and capabilities in space and space-derived data relevant to defence 
and strategy were the subject of a Strategist series and of ASPI’s Annual Conference, which 
proved timely, as it occurred shortly after the government’s announcement of the formation of 
the Australian Space Agency. Other capability areas analysed by ASPI over 2017–18 included air 
superiority in contested skies, the major investment in Army capability through the LAND 400 
program, an outline of Australia’s offensive cyber capabilities, and quantum technologies and 
their application to defence.

International Cyber Policy Centre

Danielle Cave
Michael Chi
Fergus Hanson
Bart Hogeveen
Elsa Kania, Non-resident Fellow
Anne Lyons, Visiting Fellow
Chris Painter, Distinguished Non-resident Fellow
Fergus Ryan
Hannah Smith
Tom Uren, Visiting Fellow
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ASPI’s International Cyber Policy Centre (ICPC) focuses on the growing importance of 
cyber-related issues for broader strategic policy. ICPC brings together the various Australian 
Government agencies with responsibilities for cyber issues and a range of private sector 
partners and creative thinkers to help Australia create constructive cyber policies for 
application at home and abroad. The centre aims to facilitate conversations between 
governments, the private sector and academia across the Asia–Pacific region to increase 
constructive dialogue on cyber issues and do its part to create a common understanding of 
problems and possible solutions in cyberspace.

ICPC has four key aims:

• Lift the level of Australian and Asia–Pacific public understanding and debate 
on cybersecurity.

• Provide a focus for developing innovative and high-quality public policy on cyber issues.

• Facilitate Track 1.5 and Track 2 dialogues on cyber issues in the Asia–Pacific region.

• Link different levels of government, business and the public in a sustained dialogue 
on cybersecurity.

During 2017–18, ICPC continued to publish high-quality analyses of international and domestic 
cyber policy issues and worked successfully to shape the outcome of major domestic policy 
discussions through engagement with key stakeholders and public discourse. The centre also 
worked with private sector and government partners to achieve positive cyber policy dialogue 
and confidence-building measures in international multilateral forums.

The centre supported the development of cyber confidence-building measures across the 
region and worldwide through a number of activities. Supported by the Australia–ASEAN 
Council, we brought together nine ASEAN partner think tanks to develop practical 
recommendations for cyber confidence-building in the lead-up to the ASEAN–Australia Special 
Summit. We also facilitated ASEAN risk reduction workshops in Singapore and Bangkok 
and conducted a cyber confidence-building workshop for the Organization for Security and 
Co-operation in Europe in Vienna.

The centre conducted strategic cyber policy development workshops with the Government 
of Indonesia. The workshops, which were funded by the Department of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade, covered incident response, crisis management and whole-of-government cyber 
policy development.

In July 2017, ICPC hosted a private roundtable and a public event with Admiral Michael S Rogers, 
Commander of US Cyber Command and Director of the National Security Agency. In October, 
we hosted an event for the launch of Australia’s International Cyber Engagement Strategy. 
In February 2018, we ran a one-day intensive cyber masterclass featuring a keynote address 
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by former US State Department Coordinator for Cyber Issues, Mr Chris Painter, and welcome 
remarks by Angus Taylor MP, Minister for Law Enforcement and Cyber Security. In April, 
the centre ran a panel discussion on cyber threats to Australian elections featuring the 
Minister Angus Taylor, Ms Gai Brodtmann MP, the Australian Electoral Commissioner and US 
Department of Homeland Security representatives.

ICPC continued to publish high-quality analyses of key cyber policy issues throughout 2017–18. 
Eliza Chapman and Tom Uren wrote The internet of insecure things; Fergus Hanson and 
Tom Uren wrote Australia’s offensive cyber capability; Fergus Ryan wrote Weibo diplomacy 
and censorship in China; and Jessica Clarence wrote Who funds federal parliamentarians’ 
overseas travel?

The centre also commissioned a number of pieces that provided additional diversity and 
expertise. Chris Painter, former US State Department Coordinator for Cyber Issues, wrote 
Deterrence in cyberspace; Lotus Ruan, Research Fellow at the Citizen Lab, University of Toronto, 
wrote Big data in China and the battle for privacy; Elsa Kania, Adjunct Fellow from the Center 
for a New American Security, wrote Technological entanglement; and Dr Samantha Hoffmann, 
of the Mercator Institute for China Studies and the International Institute for Strategic Studies 
wrote Social credit.

The fourth edition of the annual Cyber maturity in the Asia–Pacific region report was launched 
in December 2017; the report has been expanded to cover 25 countries in our region. Tom Uren, 
Bart Hogeveen and Fergus Hanson also wrote a commissioned report on Defining offensive 
cyber capabilities for the Global Commission on the Stability of Cyberspace; the report was 
published on ASPI’s website in July 2018.

NATIONAL SECURITY

Five interlinked program areas combine to provide comprehensive coverage of national 
security issues. A modern approach to national security must be designed to respond to major 
security threats as they affect citizens, rather than just the institutions of the state.

Counter-Terrorism Policy Centre

Isaac Kfir
Sofia Patel

ASPI’s Counter-Terrorism Policy Centre (CTPC) has become one of Australia’s premier go-to 
facilities for information about al-Qaeda, Daesh and Salafist-jihadism. CTPC has advised, 
commented and engaged with policymakers on threats that terrorists pose to our national 
security interests.
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The centre has two main goals:

• Explain the counterterrorism environment, including policy, legislation, terrorist threats, and 
cross-jurisdiction and international issues.

• Provide counterterrorism policy advice, alternatives and contestability.

CTPC built on the successful launch of ASPI’s 2017 Counterterrorism yearbook by issuing the 
second volume in March 2018. The yearbook had a preface from Home Affairs Minister, the 
Rt Hon Peter Dutton and 18 chapters written by subject matter experts. It covered specific 
countries, such as Australia, the Philippines, Turkey and Russia; regions, such as Southeast 
Asia and West Africa; and specific fields, such as cyber operations, highlighting changes that 
had taken place in terrorist activity and counterterrorism best practices. Feedback from the 
Australian Government, state governments, embassies and multilateral institutions indicates 
that the publication is featured on government intranets and is being used as a reference in 
defence and foreign policy and planning.

In September 2017, Peter Jennings led an Australian delegation to Berlin to participate in 
the ASPI – Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Australia–Europe Counter-Terrorism 3rd Dialogue. The 
dialogue’s focus was on emerging threats, countering violent extremism, and best practice. 
These are issues on which ASPI staff have worked extensively. A fourth dialogue, titled ‘Shifting 
Frontiers: Addressing Post-caliphate Terrorism Dynamics’, will be held in Canberra in October 
2018. The focus of the dialogue will be on the crime–terror nexus, prison radicalisation and 
emerging security threats in the region.

In November 2017, Anthony Bergin led an Australian delegation to Israel to participate in the 
ASPI – Begin–Sadat Centre for Strategic Studies Dialogue. The dialogue brought together 
experienced Israeli and Australian academics and policymakers to share perspectives and 
analyses on common security challenges. The dialogue also reflected on the outlook for the 
relationship between the two countries. In October 2018, another dialogue will take place 
in Melbourne.

As a result of the work of CTPC and publications that appeared on The Strategist and 
other websites, Isaac Kfir was invited to participate in a Track 1.5 security dialogue led by 
the Commander of the Defence Force, Mark Binskin, in Pakistan in June 2018. Isaac led the 
academic delegation and held a meeting at the National Defense University.

We are also involved with Tech Against Terrorism and the Global Internet Forum to Counter 
Terrorism, which is a UN-mandated initiative supporting the tech industry through developing 
practical tools and advice for companies.

We engage with Australian university students through involvement with Young Australians in 
International Affairs and the UN Model.
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The program’s research resulted in the production of the following reports during 2017–18:

• Special Report: Terrorism in the Indo-Pacific: glocalism comes of age, by Isaac Kfir, reviewed 
and assessed potential terrorism hotspots in the Indo-Pacific region, specifically the 
southern Philippines, Bangladesh, and China’s Xinjiang Province. It also offered some policy 
recommendations for the Australian Government.

• Special Report: A primer on the ideological and theological drivers of AQ and Daesh: 
al-Qaedaism, by Isaac Kfir, deconstructed the ideology of al-Qaeda—al-Qaedaism—
identifying its four key tenets. It also explained the allure of al-Qaedaism to many young 
people by noting the eschatological, apocalyptic, conspiratorial and hagiographical nature 
of the ideology, which appeals to those who are angry at what they perceive are the failures 
of globalisation.

• Special Report: National security in the Philippines under Duterte: pragmatic partnerships 
beyond the noise, by Peter Chalk, examined how President Duterte has gone about securing 
his internal objectives and diversifying and rebalancing his country’s external alignments.

• Strategic Insight: Understanding the BRI in Africa and the Middle East, by Isaac Kfir, 
developed ideas in Paul Dibb and Richard Brabin-Smith’s powerful paper, Australia’s 
management of strategic risk in the new era, to look at how China is using its Belt and Road 
Initiative to extend its influence in Africa and the Middle East. The paper also sought to 
situate the initiative in President Xi Jinping’s grand strategy.

Risk and Resilience Program

Paul Barnes

The Risk and Resilience Program continued to develop ideas and approaches for thinking about 
and managing the impacts of natural and socio-technical hazards in Australia. This work 
included developing advice and commentary; informing policy choices in Australia’s federal, 
state and local governments and the private sector; and enhancing the assessment of 
vulnerability and mitigation options to promote resilience in human systems.

A highlight of this focus was an invitation to appear as a witness to deliberations of the Senate 
Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Committee inquiry into the Implications of Climate Change 
for Australia’s National Security.
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The program continued to pursue its key aims, which included:

• promoting inclusive dialogues on ensuring readiness for complex emergencies 
through better planning and preparation, and considering capability needs for future 
emergency events

• engaging practitioner and industry groups (including the civilian services and the ADF) with 
practical discussions aimed at improving policies and planning

• sponsoring dialogues, issues papers and research on building resilience into 
future infrastructure

• exploring capacity needs for disaster risk reduction in the Indo-Pacific region.

A focus of efforts begun in 2017–18 has been on stronger engagement with Australian state 
jurisdictions on a range of issues relevant to local needs and on selected emerging topics 
through facilitated public dialogues. The following public events were held:

• Disaster ready? Future capability needs for South Australia

Co-hosted with the Torrens Resilience Institute, Flinders University, Adelaide.

Panellists: Stephen Gerlach, Chancellor, Flinders University; Malcolm Jackman, Chief Executive 
Officer, South Australian Fire and Emergency Services Commission; Chris Beattie, Chief Officer, 
South Australian State Emergency Service; Michael Arman, Manager Local Government 
Emergency Management Planning, Local Government Association of South Australia.

• National Emergency Management Assurance Summit 
Hosted by ASPI for the Inspectors-General Emergency Management of Victoria and 
Queensland and officials from other state jurisdictions.

• The challenge of translating science for (into) policy 
Panellists: Dr Robert Floyd, Director General, Australian Safeguards and Non-proliferation 
Office, Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade; Michael Shoebridge, Director, Defence and 
Strategy Program, ASPI.

• How government security communities develop a better understanding of the impacts of 
non-traditional, trans-boundary threats and developing effective early warning systems 
Speaker: Rear Admiral Neil Morisetti, former UK Climate and Energy Security Envoy.

The Risk and Resilience Program continued to produce opinion pieces and The Strategist posts, 
to commission papers on national resilience building and to deliver invited presentations at 
national and international forums on emerging issues in this field.
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Strategic Policing and Law Enforcement Program

Simon Norton

ASPI’s Strategic Policing and Law Enforcement Program examines the contribution of law 
enforcement to national security and to broader strategic policy. The main products of the 
program include analysis and policy recommendations.

The program has three main aims:

• Understand the link between law enforcement issues and national security concerns.

• Explain the contribution of law enforcement agencies to Australia’s international 
strategic objectives.

• Help law enforcement agencies position themselves for the future.

In 2017–18, the program examined anti-money-laundering, counterterrorism financing,  
digital currencies, and public–private sector information sharing to disrupt financial crime.

The program has been heavily involved in counterterrorism financing initiatives in Australia 
and overseas. Activities include the provision of training to Australian law enforcement 
personnel, overseas government agencies and universities and involvement in the 
3rd Counter-Terrorism Financing Summit in Kuala Lumpur and the AUSTRAC – Pusat Pelaporan 
dan Analisis Transaki Keuangan counterterrorism financing, training and community 
outreach working group.

Border Security Program

John Coyne

ASPI’s Border Security Program provides independent, policy-relevant research and analysis 
to better inform government decisions on and public understanding of border security and 
related fields. Its research focuses on issues relevant to managing the border continuum 
to help to support and facilitate legitimate trade and travel and protect the Australian 
community from a range of border risks. The program concentrates on all-hazard national 
security threats and risks.

The program has four objectives:

• Lift the level of Australian and regional understanding and dialogue on border security.

• Create a space and forum for the development of high-quality public policy on border 
security related issues.

• Provide a means for developing Track 1.5 and Track 2 dialogue on border security.

• Create a sustained dialogue between the private and public sectors on border security.
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During 2017–18, the Border Security Program continued to make substantive contributions to 
each of its four objectives:

• The program was particularly active in lifting the level of public policy dialogue and research. 
During the year, we made significant policy and opinion contributions to domestic and 
international print, radio and television media, including 20 opinion pieces in Australia’s 
media, as well as 20 The Strategist pieces.

• We also contributed to and provided speakers at six domestic and three 
international conferences.

• We made several submissions to formal government inquiries, including the Parliamentary 
Joint Committee on Law Enforcement’s inquiry into the Impact of New Technology on 
Law Enforcement.

• We also supported the United Arab Emirates Government Excellence Awards Program.

• We negotiated for a Visiting Fellow from the Korean Customs Service and enhanced 
cooperation with the Thai Institute for Justice.

The program’s research resulted in the production of the following reports during the year:

• Special Report: ‘Santa Muerte’, are the Mexican cartels really coming? argued that, for 
Australia and Asia, the menace of Mexican organised crime is no longer looming on the 
horizon; it has already arrived. However, the nature of the problem in Australia and Asia 
is not likely to be the same as in either the US or Mexico. To respond effectively to this 
rising threat, Australian policymakers need to approach the issue with a more informed 
perspective that engages with the complex nature of the various groups that collectively 
form what is broadly considered to be Mexican organised crime. Furthermore, the policy 
response to the problem will need to more agile than the measures contained in Australia’s 
current National Organised Crime Response Plan.

• Strategy: People smugglers globally, 2017 analysed the main people-smuggling syndicates 
operating around the globe. It provided a concise analysis of each people-smuggling hotspot 
and made policy recommendations for interventions.

• Special Report: The virtual meets reality: policy implications of e-diasporas examined global 
social formations of people who have been scattered from their countries of origin. They 
carry with them a collective representation, myth or imagined sense of their homeland. 
The connection between the diaspora and its members’ original ‘home’ was, until the rise 
of social media, sustained by letters, tapes and print media. With social media, e-diasporas 
recreate and expand a diaspora’s sense of shared identity and community by providing a 
virtual venue for affirmation and recognition. This report explored how, today, e-diasporas 
are combinations of self-interest and identity groups that share experiences through online 
media. The members share their country of origin and, at times—depending on the size of 
the community—their host country.
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Other research that continued throughout 2017–18 included work on international 
border security cooperation; big data and national security; ASEAN border disputes;  
and ASEAN coastguards.

International Program

Lisa Sharland 
Sofia Patel (and Counter-Terrorism Policy Centre) 
Jacqueline Westermann

ASPI’s International Program explores challenges and opportunities for Australia as they relate 
to maintaining international peace and security. It also contributes to broader international 
research efforts on multilateral security issues. The program aims to:

• deepen understanding within Australia and internationally of global security issues and 
multilateral peace operations

• facilitate engagement among key stakeholders in government, the private sector and civil 
society on issues relating to international peace and security

• provide policy advice on emerging challenges and opportunities for Australia to contribute 
to efforts to maintain international peace and security.

In 2017–18, the program focused on four strands of work:
• women, peace and security

• the UN peace and security agenda, with a focus on the reform of UN peace operations and 
the protection of civilians

• Australia’s relationship and engagement with Africa

• Australia’s relationship and engagement with Europe.

We continued to deliver a range of analysis and commentary on different international security 
topics throughout the year, underpinned by participating in and co-hosting international 
workshops and conferences, undertaking field research in Africa, delivering training 
presentations for government, and providing ongoing analysis and commentary on topical 
international security issues.

One significant highlight during 2017–18 was the delivery of research examining the role of 
the mining sector in preventing and countering violent extremism in Africa. A Special Report, 
Preventing and countering violent extremism in Africa: the role of the mining sector (by Lisa 
Sharland, Tim Grice and Sara Zeiger), and a Strategic Insight, Preventing and countering 
violent extremism in Africa: mining and Australia’s interests (by Lisa Sharland), were launched 
in November in Perth to the mining community, with Senator Linda Reynolds and Base 



   Programs  33

Resources Limited Managing Director Tim Carstens. The findings emerging from both reports 
were presented a three international conferences in 2017–18: Africa Down Under (Perth); 
an International CVE Conference hosted by project partner Hedayah (Antayla, Turkey); and 
Mining Indaba (Cape Town, South Africa).

Throughout 2018, we provided analysis and commentary on security and policy developments 
in Europe and Russia, including through participation in a panel presentation in Sydney on 
populism developments in Europe and the publication of a Strategic Insight, Russian interests 
around the Korean Peninsula (by Jacqueline Westermann).

We continued to contribute to the national debate on the Australian Government’s 
engagement in the area of women, peace and security (WPS). We worked closely with 
The Strategist team to commission a series of posts on WPS to coincide with International 
Women’s Day in 2018. This was the second time ASPI has run a series on WPS in The Strategist, 
this time featuring contributions from several parliamentarians, including Defence Minister 
Marise Payne. The posts were incorporated into an anthology Strategic Insights publication, 
Women, peace and security: addressing the gaps and strengthening implementation. 
Several government departments and Defence training institutions requested copies for  
use in their programs.

The program also contributed to other activities that fostered engagement and debate on 
WPS, including by delivering presentations at roundtables, workshops and meetings hosted 
by the UN Association of Australia, the Australian Civil-Military Centre and parliamentary 
friendship groups. The program’s engagement on WPS continues to complement activities 
being undertaken as part of ASPI’s Women in Defence and Security Network.

In order to inform discussion on Australia’s engagement with the UN, UN peace operations 
reform and Australia’s relationship with Africa, the program engaged in a range of other 
activities throughout 2017–18, including:

• publishing a Special Report, UN elections: Australia’s approach, by Sally Weston ahead of 
Australia’s election to the Human Rights Council

• co-hosting a workshop with the permanent missions of Australia and Uruguay to the UN in 
New York on ‘Protection of civilians and accountability’ in UN peacekeeping

• undertaking field research with the International Peace Institute in Mali, examining the role 
of parallel forces in UN peacekeeping

• delivering presentations on a range of topics, including the future of UN peacekeeping, the 
protection of civilians and Australia–Africa engagement at workshops hosted by the Global 
Center for the Responsibility to Protect in New York, the Center for Defence and Strategic 
Studies, the ADF Peace Operations Training Centre, and the UN Association of Australia’s 
annual conference
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• hosting meetings and roundtables to engage with the Department of Foreign Affairs 
and Trade, the Defence organisation, the Australian Federal Police and the Australian 
Civil-Military Centre on UN peacekeeping.

ASPI PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Mike Norris
Janelle Chhor
Ben Coleman
Campbell Darby, Visiting Fellow
Tony McCormack
Steve Meekin
David Millar
Geoff Peterson

ASPI Professional Development (ASPI-PD), formerly known as ASPI Education, aims to help 
improve judgement and decision-making through short, intense professional development 
courses and training workshops that focus on policymaking, thinking skills and strategic 
analysis. We make significant use of case studies, scenario-based discussions and practical 
syndicate activities. ASPI-PD also facilitates strategic planning and policy development for 
agencies; designs and delivers discussion exercises and war games; and conducts red teaming. 
We draw on a range of former serving senior officials who provide broad-ranging experience 
and practical advice on the development and delivery of ASPI programs. In 2017–18, we drew on 
Tony Forestier and Steve Meekin in particular.

ASPI-PD programs and activities are highly interactive and tailored to participants’ needs. The 
courses have a strong practical bent and use reality-based contexts and scenarios in which 
participants grapple with relevant policy challenges, guided by experienced policy practitioners 
and thinkers. The contribution of ASPI’s research programs covering defence, national 
security, risk, resilience, counterterrorism, cyber matters, strategic policing and border security 
significantly enhances the high regard in which ASPI-PD programs are held. Some of ASPI’s 
professional development programs are highly customised to guide organisations in solving 
their real-world policy issues while building their organic policy development capacity.

ASPI-PD is committed to fostering the next generation of strategic policy thinkers and plays an 
active role in professional development for government clients, particularly the Department 
of Defence.
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In 2017–18, ASPI-PD developed and/or delivered the following programs and services:

• Defence: Crafting better policy for improved decision making for defence professionals

This is a one-day course for Executive Level and Australian Public Service staff, and has 
two variants: strategic policy (which examines policy from the viewpoint of Defence’s 
contribution to national security) and administrative policy (which focuses on policy relating 
to Defence’s internal working).

The Better Policy Program has two aims: to understand the Australian system for defence 
policymaking and to enhance policymaking skills in a Defence context.

In 2017–18, we delivered 22 courses, which involved 277 Defence participants, in Canberra, 
Perth, Melbourne and Adelaide. Of those courses, nine were tailored to suit the current 
policy development needs of various Australian defence agencies, including seven for the 
Australian Signals Directorate and two for the Australian Army.

• Defence: Guiding better policy for improved decision making for defence professionals

This course discusses how SES staff can better lead and facilitate greater understanding of 
the Australian system for defence policymaking and enhance their staffs’ policymaking skills 
in a Defence context.

In 2017–18, we delivered nine workshops, which involved 79 Defence participants in 
Canberra. Of those, six for the Australian Signals Directorate were tailored to suit its current 
policy development needs as the organisation transitioned to become a statutory agency.

• Queensland Fire and Emergency Services: Better policy for improved decision making for 
emergency management professionals

This is a one-day course designed for the fire and emergency management professionals at 
national, state and territory levels.

The Better Policy for Emergency Management Program has two aims: to understand 
policymaking from an emergency management perspective and to enhance policymaking 
skills in an emergency management and community safety context.

In 2017–18, we delivered 10 courses, which involved 135 participants, in Brisbane, 
Toowoomba, Caloundra, Cairns, Rockhampton and the Gold Coast.

• Defence: Integrity policy suite facilitation

ASPI-PD provides support to the Fraud Control Branch to assist the development of 
Defence’s integrity and conflict of interest policy. We hosted and facilitated a series 
of workshops with key stakeholders to initiate and progress the development of these 
interrelated policies.

In 2017–18, we developed and facilitated three workshops, which involved 36 Defence 
participants in Canberra.
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• Australian Border Force: Maritime Border Command Counter-Terrorism Symposium

This is a one-and-a-half day interactive seminar and discussion activity that engages federal 
and state government officials, subject matter experts, industry representatives and 
academics to identify and consider key issues concerning maritime counterterrorism.

The program aims to raise and address challenges facing maritime counterterrorism by 
engaging stakeholders in new thinking about maritime terrorism threats and responses 
to them.

In 2017–18, we designed and delivered this program on 13 and 14 September 2018 to 64 
participants in Canberra.

• Defence: North Asia security activity

This course, for Senior Executive Service staff, is a one-and-a-half day discussion exercise 
that explores a geopolitical crisis in North Asia and assists participants in crafting defence 
strategic policy in response.

The course aims to help participants think through a challenging crisis and to develop a 
deeper understanding of the strategic motivations of relevant actors.

In 2017–18, we designed and delivered this program on 22 and 23 November 2018 to 
16 participants in Sydney.

• Defence: Defence and strategic studies course, politics and policy module course design

ASPI-PD provided support to the Centre for Defence and Strategic Studies to design the 
curriculum for Unit 4: Politics and Policy of the Defence and Strategic Studies Course. 
This unit aims to enhance the capacity of students to provide informed and defensible 
advice to government on policy formulation to achieve national security objectives.

In 2017–18, we designed a five-week course program (including session aims and outlines), 
recommended appropriate presenters, and developed six practical activities (syndicate 
discussions, case studies and student coursework deliverables).

• Royal Australian Air Force: Professional Development Framework

In 2017–18, ASPI-PD provided support to the RAAF through the development and production 
of the Framework for the Professional Development of Air Force Junior Officers and Senior 
Non-Commissioned Officers under Plan Jericho, Project 16.

The framework provides the key features and principles of the modernised, professional 
development continuum needed to prepare Air Force personnel to operate as a key element 
of the future integrated, networked joint force.

Following approval of the framework, we were awarded contracts to design, develop 
and deliver two professional development courses to meet the needs of the Air Force’s 
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Professional Development Framework. The courses will improve the skills and knowledge 
of selected senior and junior officers in operating in the future integrated and networked 
joint environment.

• Royal Australian Air Force: Senior officer professional development course

This two-week course will prepare selected Group Captain level officers for employment in 
single-service, joint and whole-of-government positions. It will equip the participants with 
a contemporary understanding of national and military strategic policy through to force 
design, force posture and the employment of air power in support of the national security 
of Australia.

In 2017–18, we designed and developed the course, two iterations of which will be delivered 
in September 2018 and May 2019.

• Royal Australian Air Force: Junior officer professional development course

This two-week course is designed to enhance the air power mastery of Squadron Leader 
level officers. It will provide the knowledge, tools, context and awareness to communicate 
with influence on air power and will develop participants’ strategic comprehension, 
thinking and communication skills. The knowledge, skills and attributes attained will assist 
participants in representing the Air Force in a broad range of areas.

In 2017–18, we designed and developed the course, two iterations of which will be delivered 
in October and November 2018.

• Advisory Group: 2019 Annual Strategic Review

In 2017–18, ASPI-PD assisted the Advisory Group through expert contributions on Australia’s 
future strategic environment and risks. Later in 2018 we will make a further contribution to a 
red-teaming activity.

• Queensland Fire and Emergency Services: Operational Readiness Review

In 2017–18, ASPI-PD supported an operational readiness review of Queensland Fire and 
Emergency Services in the lead-up to the Commonwealth Games. We reviewed and 
assessed the capacity of the services to manage two major emergency events occurring 
simultaneously during the games. This involved a review of documentation, interviews, 
several scenario-based discussion exercises, an interview panel and a written report.





CHAPTER 3 PUBLICATIONS
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ASPI’s publications program offers practical and influential policy advice through publications 
that are:

• accessible and readable

• accurate and authoritative

• well presented and cost-effective.

The key performance indicators for the program of published research are:

• Publication of the program of major studies and annuals according to schedule and 
within budget.

• Each publication meeting the following criteria to a high degree:
 – independent and non-partisan
 – rigorous, accurate and well informed
 – innovative and original
 – well presented and accessible to wide and diverse audiences
 – integrated into wider national debates within government and in the public arena.

• Responses to publications from our customer groups and stakeholders are monitored by 
staff and reported to the Research Committee:

 – Government’s evaluation of the products, in terms of their contribution to policy 
development—to be evaluated on the basis of responses and structured feedback.

 – Public responses, gauged by the extent to which the publications are used and discussed 
in further public comment.

     

In 2017–18, ASPI publications were produced in our six major formats.

The flagship publications are in the Strategy series, which provides detailed analyses of major 
strategic policy questions of critical importance to Australia and our region and informed 
recommendations for consideration by government and the broader community.

Strategic Insights are shorter papers providing background information or comment on specific 
issues and considering policy ramifications as those issues arise in the public debate.

The Special Report series is a vehicle for the dissemination of analyses and comment on a wide 
range of issues. Special reports are usually focused on specific issues that require more detailed 
or quantitative information for deeper analysis.
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The fourth style of publication is the Yearbook series. ASPI produces an annual analysis of 
the defence budget, titled The cost of Defence. It has made a permanent impact on the 
transparency and quality of the debate on the budgetary and management aspects of the 
Defence portfolio and has gained the attention of members of parliament and senators, 
interested government agencies and media commentators. Through ASPI’s International Cyber 
Policy Centre, we also produce the annual Cyber maturity in the Asia–Pacific region report, 
which assesses the regional cyber landscape. ASPI’s second Counterterrorism yearbook was 
produced in 2017–18. This annual report looks at those areas around the world where terrorism 
and counterterrorism are in the sharpest focus.

The fifth style of publication, with a distinctive new design, is for our International Cyber 
Policy Centre. Through its publications, the centre aims to facilitate conversations between 
governments, the private sector and academia across the Asia–Pacific region to increase 
constructive dialogue on cyber issues and do its part to create a common understanding of 
problems and possible solutions in cyberspace.

The sixth style is the new ASPI Case Studies series, beginning with Rearming the Anzacs. 
This series of publications is dedicated to telling the ‘warts and all’ stories of major 
undertakings in Australian defence procurement and project management. The ‘dates and 
dollars’ of defence projects are available in reporting from Defence and the Australian National 
Audit Office, so this series explores the less quantified but nonetheless crucial aspects of 
project management—the organisational, human and technological challenges that occur 
along the way. ASPI hopes that future project managers will be able to turn to this series 
to see how their predecessors dealt with the problems they faced, and be able to see how 
outcomes—good or bad—were shaped by events.

ASPI also occasionally produces discussion papers for distribution within the policy community. 
These reports usually deal with near-term planning and management issues and discuss 
options, often including some not previously considered by officials.

Table 5 shows the number of each publication type published in 2016–17 and 2017–18.
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Table 5: ASPI publications, by format, 2016–17 and 2017–18

Publication type 2016–17 2017–18

Strategy 7 4

Strategic Insights 10 15

Special Report 17 15

Yearbook 3 3

Discussion paper 0 1

International Cyber Policy Centre 4 8

CT Quick Look 6 1

ASPI Case Study 0 1

Total 47 48

The Strategist posts 961 1,046

A complete list of ASPI’s 2017–18 publications is in Annex A.

CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE NATIONAL DEBATE,  
BY PUBLICATION TYPE

The following pages describe some selected ASPI publications and outline how they have 
contributed to the national debate.

Strategy

People smugglers globally, 2017
John Coyne and Madeleine Nyst
24 October 2017

The global drivers of irregular movements of people, from human 
security to economics, are growing, not dissipating. In 2016, the UN 
High Commissioner for Refugees reported that there were 65.6 million 
‘forcibly displaced people worldwide’, 22.5 million refugees and 
10 million stateless people.

Globally, some 767 million people are living below the poverty line. In 
Africa alone, there are some 200 million people ‘aged between 15–24 
and this will likely double by 2045’. While these figures are startling, 



   Publications  43

the fact that in 2016 only 189,300 refugees were resettled highlights the 
scale of the likely demand for irregular migration.

Much has been said and published on irregular migration from the 
perspective of the migrant. In the process, it has become politically 
expedient to homogenise perceptions of people smugglers. This 
authoritative ASPI report focuses on people-smuggling syndicates 
globally. It analyses their activities and provides a concise analysis of 
each people-smuggling hotspot, along with policy recommendations 
for interventions.

This report received good media attention, including five interviews 
on TV, on radio and in print through ABC RN, Sky News, Ten News, 
ABC Canberra and The Australian. Co-author John Coyne was invited 
to Bangkok in April 2018 to present the research to the ASEAN People 
Smuggling Joint Management Group.

Strategic insights

The next big grey thing: Choosing Australia’s future frigate
Andrew Davies, Michael Shoebridge and James Mugg
21 May 2017

When this report was published, the government was close to making 
a decision on the $35 billion Future Frigate Program. The choice was 
between Italy’s Fincantieri with its FREMM frigate; Spain’s Navantia 
with its design based on the Hobart-class air warfare destroyer; and 
the UK’s BAE Systems with its Type 26, a new design now being built in 
Glasgow for the Royal Navy.

The decision about which of the three companies would be the prime 
contractor was a defining one both for Australia’s security and for 
Australia’s defence industry.

This ASPI Strategic Insight set out the issues that the government would 
be taking into account and assessed each of the contenders against 
antisubmarine performance, project risk, industrial strategy and cost.

This report received good media coverage, including articles in 
the Adelaide Advertiser and The Australian, as well as enquiries 
from The Financial Times. It also featured in an article on the 
DefenceConnect website.
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Women, peace and security: Addressing the gaps and strengthening 
implementation
Lisa Sharland and Jacqueline Westermann
10 May 2017

This is the second year that ASPI has run a series examining Australia’s 
approach to women, peace and security (WPS) in The Strategist to 
coincide with International Women’s Day. This Strategic Insights paper 
compiles the articles in that series across four themes: Defence’s 
approach to WPS, the role of parliament and civil society, lessons from 
abroad, and evolving approaches to WPS. Drawing on analyses by 
contributors from a variety of backgrounds, including government, 
politics, defence, academia and civil society, the series demonstrates 
that issues related to women’s participation and leadership, and the 
inclusion of different gender perspectives, are integral to Australia’s 
national security.

As ASPI’s Lisa Sharland and Jacqueline Westermann write in the 
introduction to the paper, WPS is ‘an important topic that’s frequently 
overlooked at the expense of what are often deemed “more pressing” 
security issues by the media and security commentators’. The Australian 
Government is to draw up a new National Action Plan on WPS in 2019, 
so the paper provides important reflections on the progress that has 
been made, the remaining gaps and how Australia’s implementation on 
WPS could be strengthened.

This report attracted much interest from government departments 
and training institutions, which requested copies for training purposes. 
They included the ADF Peace Operations Training Centre, the Australian 
National University, the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, the 
Australian Command and Staff College, the Australian Civil-Military 
Centre and Monash GPS. The report was also featured on the 
Department of Defence website.
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Special report

BEARing back: Russia’s military power in the Indo-Asia–Pacific under  
Vladimir Putin
Alexey D Muraviev
15 February 2018

Current perceptions of Russia as a power factor in the Indo-Asia–Pacific 
geopolitical system are very much influenced by established post-Cold 
War assumptions that Moscow is no longer able to influence the 
regional geostrategic landscape because of its reduced military power 
and limited economic engagement with the region, and thus should 
be disregarded as a player worth considering and factoring into any 
strategic calculus.

In the 2000s, the Russian military began gradually rebuilding its fallen 
combat potential. Under President Vladimir Putin’s leadership, the once 
cash-strapped national military machine received a massive financial 
boost and, more importantly, full political support, which remains 
unchanged to date. Qualitative upgrades of Russian modern military 
power, while visible, remain neglected by the Western strategic and 
defence community.

The Guardian ran a feature report following an interview with the 
author, Alexey Muraviev. Alexey was invited to present two special 
briefings on the report to the Royal Australian Navy in April 2018. He was 
also asked to contribute to an article (based on the report) on Russian 
naval power in the Pacific to the Australian naval review 2018, which 
is due to be published in September 2018. The report proved to be a 
popular download.
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Yearbooks

The cost of Defence: ASPI defence budget brief, 2018–2019
Marcus Hellyer
24 May 2016

This report gives interested readers greater access to the complex 
workings of the defence budget and promotes informed debate on 
defence budget issues.

As in previous years, the 2018 paper by Marcus Hellyer received 
extensive media coverage. The launch was attended by a capacity 
crowd, including parliamentarians, the media, government officials, 
members of the diplomatic community, academics and defence 
industry representatives. The event was recorded and is available on our 
YouTube channel for those who were unable to attend. This publication 
has been heavily downloaded.

Cyber maturity in the Asia–Pacific region 2017
Tom Uren, Fergus Hanson, Fergus Ryan, Michael Chi, Jack Viola and Eliza Chapman
12 December 2017

This report assesses the national approach of Asia–Pacific countries 
to the challenges and opportunities of cyberspace, taking a holistic 
approach that assesses governance and legislation, law enforcement, 
military capacity and policy involvement, and business and social 
engagement in cyber policy and security issues. The 2017 report is the 
fourth annual cyber maturity report. It covers 25 countries and includes 
assessments of Taiwan and Vanuatu for the first time.

The US continues its leadership of the country rankings for cyber 
maturity, and Australia has moved up from fourth to equal second 
on the back of continued investment in governance reform and the 
implementation of the 2016 Cyber Security Strategy. Japan (equal 
second with Australia), Singapore, and South Korea round out a very 
close top five countries.

The report was launched on 12 December 2017 by the Special Adviser 
to the Prime Minister on Cyber Security, Alastair MacGibbon. A 
panel comprising Alastair MacGibbon, Tom Uren, Danielle Cave and 
Fergus Hanson discussed the report’s findings and implications for 
regional cybersecurity.
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The report received extensive media coverage, including from Sky News, 
ABC radio’s The World Today, The Canberra Times, The Australian, ZDNet, 
The Australian Financial Review and The Hill Times, and was translated 
into Chinese by Vincent Chen, head of Taiwan’s National Information 
Infrastructure Enterprise Promotion Association.

The report was distributed to influential senior government officials in 
Australia and was a popular download.

Counterterrorism yearbook 2018
Edited by Isaac Kfir, Sofia Patel and Micah Batt
27 March 2018

The annual Counterterrorism yearbook was published for the second 
time in 2018. The publication was launched at a public event held at 
ASPI in March 2018 by Tony Sheehan, Commonwealth Counter-Terrorism 
Coordinator. Mr Sheehan’s introductory remarks were followed by a 
discussion between the editors of the yearbook, Dr Isaac Kfir (Director, 
Counter-Terrorism Policy Centre) and Ms Sofia Patel (analyst, Counter 
Terrorism and International Security). Feedback from federal and state 
governments, embassies and think tanks indicates that the publication 
is being used as a reference tool in defence and foreign policy circles. At 
present, the yearbook is the second most popular download from ASPI’s 
publication database online, and has had just under 2,000 unique views.

International Cyber Policy Centre

Weibo diplomacy and censorship in China
Fergus Ryan
29 May 2017

Since its inception in 2009, Sina Weibo—China’s souped-up version of 
Twitter—has provided a rare foothold for foreign governments in the 
People’s Republic of China’s tightly controlled media environment.

Yet while China is allowed free rein to push its messages in 
Western media and on social media platforms, Beijing’s censors 
have been hampering the legitimate digital diplomacy efforts of 
foreign embassies.



48    ASPI Annual Report 2017–2018   

This ASPI ICPC report takes an in-depth look at the increasingly 
sophisticated censorship methods being used against foreign embassies 
on Weibo and provides a series of recommendations for the Australian 
Government to address these policy challenges.

This report attracted an overwhelming amount of interest by the media, 
including author interviews and coverage with the ABC’s The World, 
RN and PM, The Financial Times, Quartz Media, The Sydney Morning 
Herald, SBS, ON.CC, Epoch Times, The Globe and Mail, The Border Mail, 
The Australian Financial Review, Financial Times China, Sydney Today, 
The Stand News, The News Lens International and Medium Corporation 
US. It was one of the most downloaded reports from the ASPI website.

ASPI Case Studies

Rearming the Anzacs
Robert Macklin
6 December 2017

The ASPI Case Studies in Defence Projects series is dedicated to telling 
the ‘warts and all’ stories of major undertakings in Australian defence 
procurement and project management. The ‘dates and dollars’ of 
defence projects are available in reporting from Defence and the 
Australian National Audit Office, so this series explores the less 
quantified but nonetheless crucial aspects of project management—
the organisational, human and technological challenges that occur 
along the way. ASPI hopes that future project managers will be able to 
turn to this series to see how their predecessors dealt with the problems 
they faced, and be able to see how outcomes—good or bad—were 
shaped by events.

Rearming the Anzacs is the first in the series, and tells the story of how 
the air defence systems on the Royal Australian Navy’s Anzac-class 
frigates were upgraded to be among the best in the world. It is a story 
that ultimately turns on taking an innovative Australian idea—the 
CEAFAR radar—from a gleam in a naval engineer’s eye through to a 
deployed system that can down multiple inbound supersonic missiles. 
It is a story with a happy ending—not always the case with defence 
projects—but it was not always a happy journey. Author Robert Macklin 
describes the ups and downs and the eventual success of the project.
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CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE NATIONAL DEBATE,  
BY SELECTED TOPIC

The US and China and the rules-based global order

Publication

Australia’s management of strategic risk in the new era
Paul Dibb and Richard Brabin-Smith
15 November 2017

Australia’s strategic outlook is deteriorating and, for the first time 
since World War II, we face an increased prospect of threat from a 
major power. This means that a major change in our approach to the 
management of strategic risk is needed.

The enduring message of this paper’s review of Australia’s evolving 
strategic circumstances is that warning time is becoming shorter 
and that the management of strategic risk is becoming significantly 
more demanding. It is imperative, then, that planning for the defence 
of Australia and for operations in our immediate region resumes the 
priority that it once had. The conduct of operations further afield, and 
Defence’s involvement in counterterrorism, must not be allowed to 
distract either from the effort that needs to go into that planning or 
from the funding that enhanced capabilities will require.

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘The Thucydides Trap … or a trap for young players’, Allan Behm, 16 November 2017

• ‘Who lost the South China Sea?’, 15 June 2018

• ‘Foreign Policy White Paper 2017’: multiple articles, Denise Fisher, 8 December 2017

• ‘The alliance—dependence grows as our options narrow’, Kim Beazley, 1 May 2018

• ‘Saying the same thing in Washington and Beijing’, Michael Shoebridge, 29 May 2018

• ‘Striving for power: Chinese foreign policy in Xi Jinping’s “new era”’, Feng Zhang, 
13 November 2017

• ‘Indo-Pacific: (re-)revise and resubmit’, Huong Le Thu, 8 June 2018

• ‘Relationships between highly asymmetric nuclear powers’, Rod Lyon, 10 April 2018
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The threat of terrorism and foreign terrorist fighters, combined with Islam 
and Southeast Asia

Publication

Terrorism in the Indo-Pacific: Glocalism comes of age
Isaac Kfir
22 May 2018

2017 was an important year in countering Salafi-jihadi terrorism. 
Midway through the year, the so-called caliphate collapsed as the 
Islamic State of Iraq and Syria (ISIS, also known as the Islamic State 
of Iraq and the Levant or Daesh) lost its hold on Mosul, Raqqa and 
other territory.

The sense of relief and joy did not last very long, as the ideas of Daesh 
and its progenitor, al-Qaeda—the group established by Osama bin 
Laden in the late 1980s, now led by Ayman al-Zawahiri and Osama’s son, 
Hamza bin Laden—persist and evolve.

History teaches that terrorists innovate in their tactics, strategy and 
organisation. They must do so to survive, as most nation-states are 
committed to the eradication of terrorism. Nevertheless, for each 
successful terrorist attack there have been many that the security 
services have foiled.

This Special Report examines Islamists’ turn to ‘glocalism’, 
which involves tying local grievances into the transnational 
Salafi-jihadi ideology.

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘Indonesia and the threat of violent extremism’, Isaac Kfir, 28 April 2018

• ‘Emerging areas of terrorism in Southeast Asia’, Murray Ackman, 1 December 2017

• ‘The role of women in Islamic State-led terrorism’, Isaac Kfir, 15 September 2017

• ‘The battle for Marawi and ISIS in Southeast Asia’, Greg Fealy, 23 August 2017
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State fragility

Publication

Preventing and countering violent extremism in Africa: The role of the 
mining sector
Lisa Sharland, Tim Grice and Sara Zeiger
23 November 2017

To date, most counterterrorism efforts have been security and 
intelligence led, with an emphasis on military and kinetic strategies to 
‘defeat’ terrorism. Over the past decade, in particular, global efforts 
have also focused on strategies for preventing and countering violent 
extremism (P/CVE), and particularly on the role of international 
institutions, governments, regional organisations and communities. 
While several international frameworks for counterterrorism, such as 
the UN Secretary-General’s Plan of Action to Prevent Violent Extremism, 
have recognised the important role of the private sector in prevention 
measures, there has been little research and analysis exploring the 
specificity and mechanisms of private sector involvement. This report 
by ASPI, in cooperation with Hedayah, uses a case study of the mining 
sector in Africa to examine how the private sector does and can engage 
in P/CVE efforts.

The report explores the correlation between the drivers of violent 
extremism and the different activities undertaken throughout a mining 
project’s life cycle in order to identify potential risks and opportunities. 
It examines the role of the mining sector in actions to address violent 
extremism, identifying preliminary lessons and best practices from the 
research. Finally, it provides recommendations for mining companies, 
the industry, governments and communities on approaches to engage 
mining companies in P/CVE.

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘ASEAN at 50: the authority of weakness’, John McCarthy, 24 August 2017

• ‘Australia’s agenda for integrating the South Pacific’, Graeme Dobell, 11 December 2017

• ‘Dangerous portents in the Middle East’, Mohammed Ayoob, 5 December 2017

• ‘Indonesian democracy: from stagnation to regression?’, Eve Warburton and 
Edward Aspinall, 1 January 2018



52    ASPI Annual Report 2017–2018   

Military modernisation

Publication

Project LAND 400: Defining the army
Ben Coleman
16 February 2018

Defence’s most comprehensive, and expensive, package of land 
force modernisation is underway at a cost of $50–70 billion. Nine 
complementary programs cover every area of land warfare, from 
personal equipment for the soldiers through to unmanned aerial 
vehicles, amphibious craft, special forces helicopters, digital networks, 
surface-to-air missiles and long-range battlefield rocket systems. 
Moreover, those programs are in addition to Navy and Air Force projects, 
such as sea and air lift, that directly support the land force.

Among these programmatic riches, the jewel in the crown is Project 
Land 400, through which Defence intends to replace the Army’s 
fleets of armoured cavalry vehicles and M113 armoured personnel 
carriers. According to Defence, the project will deliver the Army’s next 
generation of armoured fighting vehicles, with the firepower, protection 
and mobility to defeat increasingly lethal and adaptive adversaries well 
into the future.

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘Closing the ADF’s deterrence gap’, Malcolm Davis, 1 September 2017

• ‘$35 billion on frigates: BAE wins—has Australia won too?’, Michael Shoebridge, 29 June 2018

• ‘The heart of the matter—choosing a combat management system for the future frigates’, 
Andrew Davies and James Mugg, 26 September 2017

• ‘A capability conflux: on military space, cyber and autonomous modernisation’, 
Greg Rowlands, 23 May 2018

• ‘India’s French submarines—and what we can learn’, Brendan Nicholson, 8 July 2017
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Cyber and space, non-geographic threats

Publication

Policy Brief 7: Technological entanglement: Cooperation, competition and the 
dual-use dilemma in artificial intelligence
Elsa B Kania
28 June 2018

This report on China’s efforts to dominate artificial intelligence 
highlights the risks and potential negative externalities resulting from 
the Chinese Communist Party’s efforts to co-opt private tech companies 
and academic research to advance its defence and security objectives. 
This has resulted in a ‘dual-use dilemma’ in which the openness that 
is characteristic of science and innovation in democracies may end up 
enabling the party’s surveillance capabilities and military modernisation.

Author Elsa Kania said, ‘Even as China and the United States, the world’s 
emergent “AI superpowers”, are increasingly competing in AI at the 
national level, their business, technology and research sectors are also 
deeply “entangled” through a range of linkages and collaborations.’

She highlights a number of problematic relationships between the 
Chinese People’s Liberation Army, state-owned defence companies 
and Australian universities. They include a University of Technology 
Sydney partnership with the China Electronics Technology Group, 
a state-owned defence enterprise, which includes a 2018 project 
on ‘public security online video retrieval’ that could have obvious 
applications in surveillance.

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘Cyber-enabled information and influence operations—it’s not just Russia’, Danielle Cave, 

8 March 2018

• ‘Space 2.0—why it matters for Australia’s defence’, Malcom Davis, 30 April 2018

• ‘Cyber threats—democracy under fire on two fronts’, Tom Uren, 6 July 2017

• ‘Huawei highlights China’s expansion dilemma: espionage or profit?’, Danielle Cave, 
15 June 2018
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Russia—the disruptor

Publication

Putin and North Korea: Exploring Russian interests around the peninsula
Jacqueline Westermann
9 May 2018

This Strategic Insights paper offers an analysis of an often overlooked 
and underestimated connection: Russia’s interests on and around 
the Korean Peninsula. ASPI researcher Jacqueline Westermann argues 
that it would be fatal to underestimate the Kremlin’s interests in the 
region, as ‘Russia is a permanent member of the UN Security Council, 
a stakeholder in the region, a partner to Pyongyang and a party to the 
previous Six-Party Talks.’

While it is not a top priority for the Kremlin, Russian involvement 
could play a handy part in Putin’s greater strategy to expand Russia’s 
engagement in the world. To illustrate Moscow’s specific motivations 
for being involved, the analysis is based on statements given by Russian 
Government officials during 2017, as well as insights from Russian North 
Korea experts.

The paper portrays the geopolitical, strategic, economic and national 
policy interests that are driving the Russian Government’s attentiveness 
to the peninsula and Northeast Asia. It provides an outlook on potential 
Russian involvement, as well as options for the international community 
on what to expect from that.

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘Deterring Russia’, Hugh White, 26 June 2018

• ‘A rare insight into cyber espionage: Dutch intelligence and two Russian bears’, 
Bart Hogeveen, 6 April 2018

• ‘Russia, Novichok and the future of the Chemical Weapons Convention’, 
Michael Shoebridge, 15 March 2018

• ‘Russian ambitions are turning Syria into a potential battle zone for Israel and Iran’, Isaac Kfir, 
21 February 2018

• ‘Factoring in Russian military power in the Indo-Asia–Pacific strategic calculus’, 
Alex Muraviev, 15 February 2018

• ‘The West needs to talk about Russia’, John McCarthy, 2 August 2017
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Energy versus power and its effect on security

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘The changing geopolitics of energy’, Joseph S Nye, 10 November 2017

• ‘Senate report on climate change and national security offers opportunities for 
Defence’, Anthony Bergin, 4 June 2018

• ‘Europe’s pipeline politics’, Jacqueline Westermann, 30 April 2018

• ‘A new front in Asia’s water war‘, Brahma Chellaney, 12 October 2017

Trump

Selected posts from The Strategist
• ‘The President and the generals‘, Andrew Davies, 9 August 2017

• ‘Trump administration: sick of winning‘, Peter Jennings, 26 June 2018

• ‘Trump at the United Nations’, Rod Lyon, 20 September 2017

• ‘The Trumping of Asia’, Kevin Rudd, 11 December 2017

• ‘The world according to Trump and Xi’, Brahma Chellaney, 23 May 2018

https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/the-changing-geopolitics-of-energy/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/senate-report-on-climate-change-and-national-security-offers-opportunities-for-defence/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/senate-report-on-climate-change-and-national-security-offers-opportunities-for-defence/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/europes-pipeline-politics/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/a-new-front-in-asias-water-war/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/president-generals-1962-style/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/trump-administration-sick-of-winning/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/trump-united-nations/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/the-trumping-of-asia/
https://www.aspistrategist.org.au/the-world-according-to-trump-and-xi/
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ASPI’s events program embraces a range of different audiences and tailors events for each 
type. By-invitation events, which include roundtables and strategic dialogues, involve mainly 
members of the security community, address specific issues related to policy development and 
are normally conducted under the Chatham House rule.

Several events, including the Formal Dinners series, are limited to invited attendees who are 
drawn from various sections of the Australian community.

Public events, such as ASPI international conferences, report launches and public addresses, 
are designed to allow the widest possible audience to engage with leading Australian and 
international strategic thinkers, to exchange different perspectives on strategic and security 
matters and to network with like-minded attendees.

Table 6 summarises the major events conducted by ASPI in 2016–17 and 2017–18. More detailed 
descriptions of the events held during 2017–18 are outlined in this section, while a detailed 
listing of the 2017–18 events program is in Annex D.

Table 6: ASPI events, 2016–17 and 2017–18

Events 2016–17 2017–18

Conferences 2 1

Formal dinners 3 4

Dinner with the Chiefs – 1

International strategic dialogues 12 3

Roundtable discussions and forums 55 49

Public events and workshops 33 36

Special meetings 10 14

Total 115 108
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ASPI INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE

From 13 to 15 June 2018, ASPI hosted an international conference titled ‘Building Australia’s 
Strategy for Space’. The conference brought together a group of distinguished international 
and Australian speakers for two days of debate on Australia’s long-term strategic plan to grow 
its space industry.

The conference was attended by senior policymakers, high-level military officials and leading 
industry representatives from Australia and around the world. Topics included:

• Understanding the strategic implications of the space domain

• Opportunities for space cooperation: US and Australian perspectives

• How an Australian space industry might develop

• State perspectives on space in Australia

• Defence and space: the best path forward

• Leveraging ‘new space’ in the next golden era of space endeavours.

ASPI FORMAL DINNERS

ASPI formal dinners facilitate interaction between cabinet ministers (or their Opposition 
and foreign counterparts), senior government officials and selected audiences on matters 
of national and regional security interest. In 2017–18, ASPI’s guest speakers included General 
Robert B Brown, Commanding General US Army Pacific; Lt General Angus Campbell, incoming 
Chief of the Defence Force; Vice Admiral Tim Barrett, Chief of Navy; and Senator David Fawcett.

INTERNATIONAL STRATEGIC DIALOGUES

We support Australian diplomacy by conducting Track 1.5 and Track 2 dialogues with 
international institutions and government partners on a regular basis. In 2017–18, 
we conducted three such dialogues.

ROUNDTABLE DISCUSSIONS AND FORUMS

We hosted many roundtable discussions at our Canberra premises throughout the year, 
engaging a wide range of international and Australian experts in discussions about strategic 
and national security affairs. Many roundtables were convened at the request of overseas 
visitors seeking direct interaction with ASPI staff. Others were initiated by ASPI in support of 
our research program. Details of all the roundtables held in 2017–18 are in Annex D.
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ASPI PUBLIC EVENTS AND WORKSHOPS

ASPI hosted many public events in the form of keynote speaker or panel discussions 
throughout the year. Our public events are very popular and officially moderated and attract 
media attention. Details of ASPI’s public events in 2017–18 are in Annex D.

OTHER EVENTS

From year to year, ASPI hosts a range of other events on topical issues, including panel 
discussions and workshops. Further details are in Annex D.

The Hon Christopher Pyne MP, Minister for Defence Industry, delivering his keynote public address titled 
‘Australia’s defence industry: a watershed moment’.
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General Robert B Brown, Commanding General US Army Pacific, delivering his keynote address at ASPI’s 2018 
National Security Gala Dinner.

Minister for Defence Marise Payne speaking at the ASPI International Conference Dinner on ‘Building 
Australia’s Strategy for Space’.
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Mercedes Page, Jennifer Wittwer, Dr Anu Munkdur, Catherine McGrath, former Senator the Hon Kate Lundy,  
Dr Huong Le Thu (ASPI Senior Analyst), and Lisa Sharland (Head of ASPI’s International Program), attending the 
Women in Defence and Security Speed Mentoring event.

Michael Shoebridge, Director of ASPI’s Defence and Strategy Program, and Senator the Hon Michaelia Cash, 
Minister for Jobs and Innovation, who was giving the keynote address at ASPI’s 2018 International Conference 
on ‘Building Australia’s Strategy for Space’.
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The ASPI Council is the governing body of ASPI, which is a Commonwealth company. 
The council reports annually to the Australian Securities and Investment Commission. As well 
as meeting legislative requirements, a governance framework guides the development of 
policies, plans and strategies covering areas such as risk, fraud and business continuity that 
are approved by the council. A number of internal policies for staff are reviewed as required 
or scheduled.

The council comprises up to nine directors with experience, expertise and excellence in a range 
of professions, including business, academia, government and the military. Provision is also 
made to have council members who are nominees of the Prime Minister and the Leader of the 
Opposition, emphasising that ASPI is politically non-partisan.

COUNCIL MEETING ATTENDANCE

Table 7 lists meeting attendance by ASPI Council members throughout the year. Mr Peter 
Jennings is the only executive member of the council. All other council members are 
non-executive directors.

Table 7: Attendance at ASPI Council meetings, 2017–18

1 September 
2017

24 November 
2017

2 March 
2018

25 May 
2018

Lieutenant General (Ret’d) 
Kenneth Gillespie AC DSC CSM 
(Chair)

ü ü Î ü

Mr Peter Conran AM ü ü ü ü

Mr Peter Jennings PSM ü ü ü ü

Air Vice Marshal (Ret’d)  
Margaret Staib AM CSC

ü Î ü ü

Professor Joan Beaumont ü ü ü

Ms Jane Halton AO PSM ü ü ü ü

Mr Jim McDowell ü ü ü ü

The Hon Stephen Conroy ü ü ü ü

The Hon David Johnston Î ü ü ü
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CURRENT COUNCIL MEMBERS

CHAIRMAN

Lt Gen (Ret’d) Kenneth J Gillespie AC DSC CSM
Grad Dip Strat Studies

Kenneth Gillespie is an experienced and highly decorated national 
leader. Formerly Chief of the Australian Army, he has had a diverse range 
of practical experience, including military high command, diplomacy 
and private and public sector leadership. He has an enviable and 
successful track record for strategic review, structural reform, team 
building and leadership in diverse and challenging work environments 
and workforces.

Lt Gen Gillespie currently sits on several boards, both public and 
not-for-profit, and provides consulting services to government 
departments, corporations and small companies. He possesses a strong 
network of contacts in government, defence, security and commercial 
fields and has considerable experience communicating with and 
building consensus among diverse stakeholder groups

Lt Gen Gillespie was appointed to the ASPI Council in January 2015 and 
was appointed as ASPI Council Chairman in December 2016.

MEMBERS

Mr Peter Conran AM
Solicitor (Solicitors Admission Board, Queensland)

During the year, Peter Conran retired as the Director General of the 
Western Australian Department of the Premier and Cabinet. He is a 
lawyer and has had over 30 years experience in senior positions with the 
Western Australian, Northern Territory and Australian governments.

Mr Conran was the Secretary to Cabinet and Head of the Cabinet Policy 
Unit in the office of Prime Minister John Howard from 2003 to 2007 and 
a senior adviser in the Prime Minister’s Office from 2001 to 2003. From 
December 1998 to February 2001, he was employed in the Western 
Australian Department of the Premier and Cabinet, first as a consultant 
on native title issues and then as Deputy Director General.



68    ASPI Annual Report 2017–2018   

Before that, he held various positions with the Northern Territory 
Government, including Secretary to the Chief Minister’s Department 
and Secretary to the Attorney-General’s Department.

Mr Conran was appointed to the ASPI Council in January 2015.

Air Vice Marshal (Ret’d) Margaret Staib AM CSC GAICD
BBus, MBusLog, MA Strat Studies

Margaret Staib is a non-executive director of the Commonwealth 
Superannuation Corporation and the Australian Royal Aeronautical 
Society, and a member of the Industry Advisory Board for the Centre 
for Supply Chain and Logistics at Deakin University. She was recently 
appointed as Chair of the Strategic Defence Advisory Board to the 
Chief Minister of the Northern Territory and the Northern Territory 
Defence and National Security Advocate.

Ms Staib is a certified practising logistician, a Fellow of the Chartered 
Institute of Logistics and Transport, a Fellow of the Royal Aeronautical 
Society and a member of the RAAF Active Reserve.

She commenced her professional career as a military logistician with 
the RAAF after completing a business degree at the University of 
South Queensland. Her military service included an exchange with 
the US Air Force in the Pentagon and a period as Commandant of the 
Australian Defence Force Academy. In 2009 she was promoted to the 
rank of Air Vice Marshal and assumed the role of Commander Joint 
Logistics Australian Defence Force.  

From the Air Force, Ms Staib continued her executive career as the 
CEO and Managing Director of Airservices Australia—the air navigation 
and air traffic management organisation for Australia.  There, she 
led significant transformation in air safety, air navigation technology 
and cultural change.  She has subsequently pursued a career as a 
non-executive director.

Her expertise is in defence, national security, transport, infrastructure 
and logistics, aviation and aerospace, cultural change and 
organisational transformation.

In addition to her business degree, Ms Staib holds a Master of 
Business Studies (Logistics) and a Master of Arts (Strategic Studies).  
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She was awarded the Conspicuous Service Cross and is a member of 
the Order of Australia. She was also a finalist in the Telstra Business 
Women’s Awards (2012) and AFR 100 Women of Influence (2012), and a 
participant of the 17/18 AICD Chairs Mentoring Program.

Ms Staib was appointed to the ASPI Council in January 2015.

Mr Peter Jennings PSM
BA (Hons), MA, MSc

Peter Jennings has worked at senior levels in the Australian Public 
Service on defence and national security. Career highlights include being 
Deputy Secretary for Strategy in the Defence Department (2009–12), 
Chief of Staff to the Minister for Defence (1996–98) and Senior Adviser 
for Strategic Policy to the Prime Minister (2002–03).

Since May 2012, Mr Jennings has expanded ASPI’s role from its original 
high-quality research on defence to include research on cybersecurity; 
policing and international law enforcement; border security; national 
resilience; and counterterrorism. Now with around 40 staff and close 
working relations with government, parliament and industry, ASPI is 
Australia’s leading think tank on national security.

His research interests include Australian and regional defence policies, 
military operations, crisis management, government decision-making 
and future defence capabilities.

Mr Jennings led the External Expert Panel appointed by government 
in early 2014 to advise ministers and the Defence Department on the 
Defence White Paper, which was released in February 2016. He is a 
member of the Australia–Germany Advisory Group appointed by the 
Prime Minister and the German Chancellor in 2015 to develop closer 
bilateral relations. He is a member of the Advisory Group on Australia–
Africa Relations advising the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

Mr Jennings has previously held a number Senior Executive Service 
positions in Defence, including First Assistant Secretary International 
Policy Division, First Assistant Secretary Coordination and Public Affairs, 
and Secretary of the Defence Audit and Risk Committee.

He was Director of Programs at ASPI between late 2003 and January 
2006 and has taught postgraduate studies on terrorism at the 
Australian Defence Force Academy.
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The Hon Stephen Conroy
BEc (ANU)

Stephen Conroy served as a Senator for Victoria in the Australian 
Parliament for more than 20 years, including as the Leader of the 
Government in the Senate and as Deputy Leader of the Opposition in 
the Senate.

During his time in arliament, Mr Conroy worked in multiple portfolio 
areas, most notably as the Minister for Broadband, Communications 
and the Digital Economy, when he was responsible for the design and 
implementation of the National Broadband Network between 2007 
and 2013.

Before entering parliament, he worked at the Transport Workers Union. 
In 1993, he was elected to Footscray City Council.

In November 2016, Mr Conroy was appointed as the Executive Director 
of Responsible Wagering Australia.

He was appointed to the ASPI Council in March 2017.

Mr Jim McDowell
LLB Laws (Hons)

Jim McDowell commenced as Chancellor of the University of South 
Australia on 1 January 2016.

Born in Belfast, Northern Ireland, he completed a law degree with 
honours at the University of Warwick in England in 1977. He worked 
in legal, commercial and marketing roles with aerospace company 
Bombardier Shorts for the next 18 years.

Mr McDowell joined British Aerospace in Singapore in August 1996. 
In 1999, he was appointed Regional Managing Director of BAE Systems 
for Asia following the merger of British Aerospace and Marconi 
Electronic Systems and was based in Hong Kong. Upon taking over at 
BAE Systems Australia, he established the company’s headquarters in 
Adelaide, where he lives.

He was the CEO of BAE Systems Saudi Arabia, a $6 billion company,  
from September 2011 to December 2013.

Mr McDowell is a passionate supporter of continuing education. He has 
in-depth experience in corporate governance, having served, mainly as 
chair, on a range of boards, including those of the Australian Nuclear 
Science and Technology Organisation, the Air Warfare Destroyer 
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Principals Council, The du Monde Group Pty Ltd, Total Construction 
Pty Ltd and Australian Defence Accelerator Ltd. He is a non-executive 
director of both Codan Ltd and Austal Ltd and a board member of 
the Royal Automobile Association and St Peter’s College Council 
of Governors.

During his long career, he has lived and worked in the UK, the US, Korea, 
Singapore, Hong Kong and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

Mr McDowell acts in a number of advisory roles to the Defence Minister 
and the Department of Defence as a member of the First Principles 
Review of the Department and the Expert Advisory Panel for the Future 
Submarine Project. In December 2016, he was appointed as Government 
Adviser for the Naval Shipbuilding Plan Development.

He was appointed to the ASPI Council in January 2017.

Jane Halton AO PSM
BA (Hons) Psychology, FAIM, FIPAA, Hon FAHMS, Hon FACHSE, Hon Dr Letters (UNSW), GAICD

Jane Halton has had a 33-year public sector career, having served as 
Secretary of the Department of Finance (2014–2016), Secretary of 
the Department of Health (and Ageing) (2002–2014) and Executive 
Co-ordinator (Deputy Secretary) of the Department of the Prime 
Minister and Cabinet.

In her most recent role as Secretary of the Department of Finance, 
she was responsible for a range of significant services delivered by 
the department, including the delivery of the Australian Government 
Budget; oversight of the financial framework of Australian Government 
agencies; shareholder aspects of government business enterprises; the 
ongoing management of the Australian Government’s non-defence 
domestic property portfolio and key asset sales; and key projects, 
including the Air Warfare Destroyer Project.

Ms Halton is currently the Chair of Board Vault Systems, the Coalition for 
Epidemic Innovations and COTA Australia.

She is a board member of ANZ Bank; Crown Resorts; Clayton Utz and 
Ngamuru Advisory; the Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation, 
University of Washington; the Australian Genomics Advisory Board; 
and the Corporate Council of the European Australian Business Council. 
She is also an adjunct professor at the University of Sydney and the 
University of Canberra.
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She has had significant experience in global health governance, playing 
key roles in global health security, and has held leadership roles with the 
OECD and the World Health Organization.

Ms Halton has been awarded the Public Service Medal (2002), the 
Centenary Medal (2003) and the Order of Australia (2015).

She was appointed to the ASPI Council in December 2016.

The Hon David Johnston
BJuris

Born and educated in Perth in Western Australia, David Johnston 
graduated from the University of Western Australia in 1981 with 
law degrees.

He was in the Australian Parliament as a senator for Western Australia for 
15 years.

Before that that he was a barrister and solicitor in Western Australia, 
practising in the areas of mining and crime, and lived and worked on the 
Eastern Goldfields for 12 years before returning to Perth to continue in 
the law.

In parliament, he was chair of the Senate Foreign Affairs, Defence and 
Trade Committee, was appointed by Prime Minister Howard as Minister 
for Justice and Customs in 2007, was Opposition spokesperson on Defence 
from 2009 to 2013 and was Minister for Defence in 2013 and 2014.

Mr Johnston has a strong commitment to the Australian defence 
industry and the current Australian Government’s budgetary support 
for naval ship and submarine building. He sits on several defence and 
mining-related boards.

He was appointed to the ASPI Council in March 2017.

Professor Joan Beaumont
BA (Hons), PhD

Joan Beaumont is Professor Emerita, Strategic and Defence Studies 
Centre, Coral Bell School of Asia and Pacific Affairs, ANU.

Born in Adelaide, South Australia, she completed a Bachelor of Arts 
with Honours in 1969 at the University of Adelaide. She was awarded a 
British Commonwealth scholarship in 1971 and completed her PhD in the 
Department of War Studies, King’s College, University of London, in 1975.
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Returning to Australia, she took up an academic career in history, 
working at La Trobe, Deakin and Monash universities between 1976 and 
2008. From 1998 to 2008, she was Dean of Arts at Deakin University.

In 2008, Professor Beaumont moved to the ANU, where she served as 
Director of the Faculty of Arts and Dean of Education in the College 
of Arts and Social Sciences, before joining the Strategic and Defence 
Studies Centre in the College of Asia and the Pacific.

Professor Beaumont is an eminent historian of Australia in the two 
world wars, Australian defence and foreign policy, the history of 
prisoners of war, and the memory and heritage of war.

Her publications include the critically acclaimed Broken nation: 
Australians and the Great War (Allen & Unwin, 2013), the joint winner of 
the 2014 Prime Minister’s Literary Award (Australian History), the 2014 
NSW Premier’s Prize (Australian History), the 2014 Queensland Literary 
Award for History, and the Australian Society of Authors’ 2015 Asher 
Award. Her other books include Ministers, mandarins and diplomats: 
Australian foreign policy making, 1941–1969 (ed., 2003); Australia’s 
war, 1939–45 (ed., 1996); Gull Force: survival and leadership in captivity, 
1941–1945 (1988); and Comrades in arms: British aid to Russia, 1941–45 
(1980). From 2011 to 2013, she led the research team for the Department 
of Veterans’ Affairs commemorative website, The Thai–Burma Railway 
and Hellfire Pass.

Professor Beaumont is a Fellow of the Academy of Social Sciences of 
Australia, a Fellow of the Australian Institute of International Affairs and 
a member of the Editorial Advisory Board of the Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade.

She is currently funded by the Australian Research Council to research 
a history of the Great Depression and the legacy of World War I in 
Australia and, with Mick Dodson and eight other historians, a history 
of Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in the defence 
of Australia.

She was appointed to the ASPI Council in December 2016.
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COUNCIL COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The functions of the ASPI Audit Committee include reviewing the appropriateness of ASPI’s 
financial reporting; performance reporting; risk oversight and management system; and 
internal control system.

The committee’s members in 2017–18 were:

• Kate Freebody, FreebodyCogent Pty Ltd, Chair

• Geoff Brown, Chief Audit Executive, Department of Defence

• Air Vice Marshall (Ret’d) Margaret Staib AM, CSC, ASPI Council member

The Audit Committee invites the Executive Director and Director Corporate of ASPI and a 
representative from the Australian National Audit Office to its meetings.

During 2017–18, the committee met four times.

Research Committee

The ASPI Research Committee comprises senior ASPI staff, ASPI Council members and at 
least one senior representative from the Department of Defence. Under the current funding 
agreement, a portion of the funds received from the Department of Defence is directed to 
mutually agreed Defence-specific projects. The Research Committee met once during 2017–18.
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ASPI DIRECTORS' REPORT

P: + 02 6270 5100        ABN 77 097 369 045        www.aspi.org.au        www.aspistrategist.org.au 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited  
 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The directors of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited (ASPI) present this report on the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018. 
 
Directors 
 
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are listed below. 
Each director has been in office for the whole financial year to the date of this report.  

 
LtGen (Ret’d) Kenneth J Gillespie AC DSC CSM (Chairman) 
Mr Peter Jennings PSM 
Mr Peter Conran AM 
AVM (Ret’d) Margaret Staib AM, CSC 
Ms Jane Halton AO, PSM 
Mr Jim McDowell 
Prof Joan Beaumont 
The Hon Stephen Conroy 
The Hon David Johnston 

        
Company Secretary 
 
The following people held the position of the ASPI Company Secretary during the financial year: 
 

Mr Glen Bortolin was ceased as Company Secretary on 30 January 2018. 
Ms Karen Edwards was appointed Company Secretary on 31 January 2018. 

 
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of ASPI during the financial year was to: 

 encourage and inform public debate and understanding of Australia’s strategic and defence policy choices; 
 provide an alternative source of policy ideas to government;  
 nurture expertise in defence and strategic policy; and 
 promote international understanding of Australia’s strategic and defence policy perspectives. 

 
Operating Results 
 
The operating result for 2017–18 was a surplus of $449,073 (2016-17: surplus of $334,029). 
 
Review of Operations 
 
Revenue has increased by $711,258 from the previous financial year, due mainly to increased sponsorship, 
commissioned income and event related income.  Correspondingly, expenses were up by $596,214 from the 
previous financial year due to increased program operations and additional administrative overheads. 
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Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
 
No significant changes in ASPI’s state of affairs occurred during the financial year. 
 
After Balance date Events 
 
There were no after balance date events that have occurred and need to be brought to account in the financial 
statements at 30 June 2018. 
 
Future Developments 
 
ASPI expects to maintain a steady growth in output and activities, in the context of a tight fiscal environment.  
 
Environmental Issues 
 
ASPI’s operations are not regulated by any significant environment regulation under a law of the Commonwealth or 
of a State or Territory. 
 
Options 
 
No options over issued shares or interests in ASPI were granted during or since the end of the financial year and 
there were no options at the date of this report. 
 
Indemnifying Officers or Auditor 
 
ASPI’s insurance policy with Comcover includes cover for Directors' and Officers’ Liability. 
 
Proceedings on Behalf of ASPI 
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of ASPI or intervene in any proceeding to 
which ASPI is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of ASPI for all or any part of those proceeds. 
 
ASPI was not a party to any such proceeding during the year.  
 
Auditor Independence Declaration 
 
The auditor‘s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2018 was received on 31 August 2018. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 

 
…………………………………… 
LtGen (Ret’d) Kenneth J Gillespie AC DSC 
Chair 
31 August 2018 
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ANAO INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

GPO Box 707 CANBERRA  ACT  2601
19 National Circuit BARTON  ACT
Phone (02) 6203 7300   Fax (02) 6203 7777

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the members of Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial report of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2018 is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited’s financial position as at 
30 June 2018 and of its performance for the year then ended; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The financial report of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited, which I have audited, comprises the following 
statements as at 30 June 2018 and for the year then ended:

• Statement of Comprehensive Income;
• Statement of Financial Position;
• Statement of Changes in Equity;
• Cash Flow Statement;
• Notes to the financial statements, comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other 

explanatory information; and
• Directors’ Declaration.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, which incorporate 
the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report. I am independent of the Australian 
Strategic Policy Institute Limited in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the relevant ethical 
requirements for financial report audits conducted by the Auditor-General and his delegates. These include the 
relevant independence requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) to the extent that they are not in conflict with the Auditor-
General Act 1997. I have also fulfilled my other responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

I confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 
directors of Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at 
the time of this auditor’s report.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report and my auditor’s 
report thereon.

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly I do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or my 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, I 
am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001 and for such internal control the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Australian Strategic Policy Institute 
Limited’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the 
Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit.

I also provide the directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on my independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Australian National Audit Office

Garry Sutherland

Audit Principal
Delegate of the Auditor-General

Canberra

31 August 2018
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GPO Box 707 CANBERRA  ACT  2601
19 National Circuit BARTON  ACT
Phone (02) 6203 7300   Fax (02) 6203 7777

LtGen (Ret’d) Kenneth J Gillespie AC DSC CSM
Chairman
Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited
Level 2, Arts House
40 Macquarie Street
BARTON ACT 2600

AUSTRALIAN STRATEGIC POLICY INSTITUTE LIMITED
FINANCIAL REPORT 2017–18
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

In relation to my audit of the financial report of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute 
Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there 
have been:

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001; and

(ii) no contravention of any applicable code of professional conduct.

Australian National Audit Office 

Garry Sutherland
Audit Principal

Delegate of the Auditor-General

Canberra

31 August 2018
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2018  

Notes 2018 2017
$ $

NET COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits 1.1A 4,598,352 3,819,858
Suppliers 1.1B 2,799,065 2,892,122
Depreciation and amortisation 2.2A 220,004 321,784
Disposal and write down of assets 1.1C 12,410 -
Foreign exchange (gain)/ loss 1.1D 76 (71)

Total expenses 7,629,907 7,033,693

OWN SOURCE INCOME

Own source revenue

Sale of goods and rendering of services 1.2A 7,988,574 7,267,966
Interest 1.2B 90,406 77,576
Other gains 1.2C - 22,180

Total own-source revenue 8,078,980 7,367,722

Net contribution by services 449,073 334,029

Surplus attributable to the Australian Government 449,073 334,029



   Financials  85

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2018

Notes 2018 2017

$ $

ASSETS

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.1A 3,497,393 2,867,773
Trade and other receivables 2.1B 746,018 243,649
Prepayments 2.1C 13,972 64,464

Total Financial assets 4,257,383 3,175,886

Non-financial assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 2.2A 154,098 342,309
Intangibles 2.2A 63,801 59,047

Total non-financial assets 217,899 401,356

Total assets 4,475,282 3,577,242

LIABILITIES

Payables
Suppliers 2.3A 150,771 258,247
Other payables 2.3B 432,065 188,535
Unearned Income 2.3C 1,117,486 814,361

Total payables 1,700,322 1,261,143

Provisions
Employee provisions 3.1A 824,395 819,863
Other provisions 2.3D 290,887 285,631

Total provisions 1,115,282 1,105,494

Total liabilities 2,815,604 2,366,637

Net assets 1,659,678 1,210,605

EQUITY

Contributed equity 172,060 172,060
Retained surplus 1,487,618 1,038,545

Total equity 1,659,678 1,210,605



The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2018

   

2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

$ $ $ $ $ $

Opening balance 
Balance carried forward from previous period 172,060       172,060         1,038,545     704,516         1,210,605     876,576         

Comprehensive income
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period - -                       449,073         334,029 449,073         334,029

Closing balance as at 30 June 2018 172,060       172,060         1,487,618     1,038,545     1,659,678     1,210,605     

 Contributed equity  Retained earnings  Total equity 



   Financials  87

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Notes 2018 2017

$ $

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Defence funding 3,528,000 3,442,000
Sale of goods and rendering of services 4,742,764 4,418,048
Interest 88,979 98,729

Total cash received 8,359,743 7,958,777

Cash used
Employees (4,542,797) (3,881,165)
Suppliers (2,960,889) (3,089,452)
Net GST paid (177,479) (152,853)

Total cash used (7,681,166) (7,123,470)

Net cash from operating activities 2.3E 678,577 835,307

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash received

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 500 -

Total cash received 500 -

Cash used
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (49,457) (102,382)

Total cash used (49,457) (102,382)

Net cash (used by) investing activities (48,957) (102,382)

Net increase in cash held 629,620 732,925

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 2,867,773 2,134,848

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 3,497,393 2,867,773
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
OVERVIEW

The Basis of Preparation

New Accounting Standards

Adoption of new Australian Accounting Standard requirements

Future Australian Accounting Standard requirements

Taxation

ASPI is a Commonwealth Government wholly owned not for profit company established in 2001.  It is one of Australia's 
leading independent research bodies in the area of strategic and defence policy.

ASPI is exempt from all forms of taxation except fringe benefits tax (FBT), the goods and services tax (GST) and payroll tax.

The financial report of the Australian Strategic Policy Institute (ASPI) Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018 was 
authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards, and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and Urgent Issues Group that apply for the reporting period.

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are in accordance with the historical cost convention.  
Except where stated, no allowance is made for the effect of changing prices on the results or the financial position.  Cost is 
based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and values are rounded to the nearest dollar.  

No accounting standard has been adopted earlier than the application date as stated in the standard.  All other new 
standards or interpretations that were issued prior to the sign off date and are applicable to the current reporting period did 
not have a material effect, and are not expected to have a future material effect, on ASPI's financial statements.

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards.

All other new standards or interpretations that were issued prior to the sign off date and are applicable to future reporting 
periods are not expected to have a future material impact on ASPI's financial statements.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the year ended 2018
2018 2017

$ $

1.1 - Expenses

1.1A - Employee benefits

Wages and salaries 3,580,463 2,975,090
Superannuation 480,913 420,606
Long service leave 22,322 -
Annual leave 284,340 235,377
Other employee expenses 230,314 188,785

Total employee benefits 4,598,352 3,819,858

Accounting policy
Accounting policies for employee related expenses is contained 
in the People and relationships section.

1.1B - Suppliers

Goods and services supplied or rendered
Auditors remuneration 64,789 32,000
Consultants 487,309 580,708
Contractors 27,459 56,461
Communications 316,149 379,890
Travel 761,550 573,551
IT services 50,397 48,036
Office management & activities 517,857 602,426
Other 20,329 18,379
Interest 5,256 5,161

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 2,251,095 2,296,612

Goods supplied 1,621,141 1,561,103
Services rendered 629,954 735,509 

Total goods and services supplied or rendered 2,251,095                  2,296,612 

This section analyses the financial performance of the company
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the year ended 2018
2018 2017

$ $

This section analyses the financial performance of the company

Other suppliers
Operating lease rentals in connection with

Minimum lease payments 531,181 562,574

         Workers' Compensation 16,789 32,936

Total other suppliers 547,970 595,510

Total suppliers 2,799,065 2,892,122 

Leasing commitments

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to
non cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Within 1 year 175,791 698,333
Between 1 to 5 years - 175,791

Total operating lease commitments 175,791 874,124

Accounting policy
Operating lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis which is representative of the pattern
of benefits derived from the lease assets.

ASPI has an operating lease in place for office accommodation at Level 2, 40 Macquarie Street
Barton ACT 2600.  The term of the lease is for three years commencing 1 October 2015
with annual inflationary rate increases. As at the date of this report, ASPI has signed a letter 
of intent to extend this lease. The lease extension also includes additional floor space to be used as a  
training and seminar venue. As at the date of this report, the new lease had not been finalised.

1.1C - Disposal and write down of assets
Disposal and write down of property, plant and 12,410 -

12,410 -
1.1D - Foreign exchange (gain)/ loss

Non-speculative 76 (71)
76 (71)
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

for the year ended 2018
2018 2017

$ $

This section analyses the financial performance of the company

1.2 - Own Source Revenue

Goods and services

   Defence Core Funding 3,528,000 3,442,000 

   Commissioned Income 2,725,863 2,296,709 

   Sponsorship Income 1,295,390 1,110,782 

   Events 380,371 329,609 

   Subscriptions 12,226 10,455 

   Miscellaneous Income 46,724 78,411 

Total sale of goods and rendering of services 7,988,574 7,267,966

Accounting policy
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when:
a) the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer;
b) ASPI retains no managerial involvement or effective control over the goods.
The stage of completion of contracts at the reporting date is determined by reference to services 
performed to date as a percentage of total services to be performed.
Receivables for goods and services, which have 30 day terms, are recognised at the nominal 
amounts due, less any impairment allowance.  Collectability of debts is reviewed at the end of the 
reporting period.  Allowances are made when collectability of the debt is no longer probable.

1.2B - Interest

Deposits 90,406 77,576

Total interest 90,406 77,576 

1.2C - Other Gains

Long service leave - 22,180

Total other gains - 22,180
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL POSITION
This section analyses the company's assets used to conduct its

operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.  
2018 2017

$ $

2.1 - Financial Assets

2.1A - Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand or on deposit 3,497,393 2,867,773

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,497,393 2,867,773

Accounting policy

Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash and cash equivalents include:

a) cash on hand;

b) demand deposits in bank accounts with an original maturity of 3 months or less that are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in 

value; and

c) cash in special accounts.

2.1B - Trade and other receivables

Goods and services receivables

Goods and services 726,889 242,616

Other 16,669 -

Accrued Interest 2,460 1,033

Total goods and services receivables 746,018 243,649

Total trade and other receivables 746,018 243,649 

Trade and other receivables expected to be recovered

No more than 12 months 746,018 243,649 

Total trade and other receivables 746,018 243,649 
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL POSITION
This section analyses the company's assets used to conduct its

operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.  
2018 2017

$ $

Trade and other receivables aged as follows:

Not due 76,437 199,033 

Overdue by:

0 to 30 days 520,073 7,100

31 to 60 days 149,508 850

more than 90 days - 36,666

Total trade and other receivables 746,018 243,649

Accounting policy

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments and that are not quoted in an

active market are classified as 'receivables'.  Receivables are measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method less impairment.

2.1C - Prepayments

Event related prepayments 8,761 12,255

Other prepayments 5,211 52,209 

Total prepayments 13,972 64,464 
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL POSITION
This section analyses the company's assets used to conduct its
operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.

Accounting policy

Assets are recorded at cost on acquisition.

Asset Recognition Threshold

Depreciation

2018 2017

Property, plant and equipment 2 to 15 years 2 to 15 years

Impairment

Derecognition

Intangibles

Software is amortised on a straight line basis over its anticipated useful life.  The useful lives of ASPI's software are 3 to 4 
years (2017: 3 to 4 years).  All software assets were assessed for indications of impairment as at 30 June 2018.

ASPI acquired assets at no cost from the Department of Defence in 2001/2002.  These assets were initially recognised as 
contributions by owners at their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Purchases of property, plant and equipment are recognised initially at cost in the statement of financial position, except 
for purchases costing less than $1,000, which are expensed in the year of acquisition.

The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site 
on which it is located.  This is particularly relevant to 'make good' provisions in property leases taken up where there 
exists an obligation to restore the property to its original condition.  These costs are included in the value of leasehold 
improvements with a corresponding provision for the 'make good' recognised.

Depreciable property plant and equipment assets are written off to their estimated residual values over their estimated 
useful lives to ASPI using, in all cases, the straight line method of depreciation.

Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values and methods are reviewed at each reporting date and necessary 
adjustments are recognised in the current, or current and future reporting periods, as appropriate.

Depreciation rates applying to each class of depreciable asset are based on the following useful lives:

All assets were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2018.  Where indications of impairment exist, the asset's recoverable 
amount is estimated and an impairment adjustment made if the asset's recoverable amount is less than its carrying 
amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.  Value in use is 
the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  Where the future economic benefit of 
an asset is not primarily dependent on the asset's ability to generate future cash flows, and the asset would be replaced 
if ASPI were deprived of the asset, its value in use is taken to be its depreciated replacement cost.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal.

ASPI's intangibles comprise purchased software, an internally developed database and website.  These assets are 
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL POSITION
This section analyses the company's assets used to conduct its

operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.  
2018 2017

$ $
2.3 - Payables

2.3A - Suppliers

Trade creditors 56,030 145,947 
Accruals 94,741 112,300 

Total suppliers 150,771 258,247 

No more than 12 months 150,771 258,247 
150,771 258,247 

Settlement terms for suppliers is usually within 30 days of invoice date.

2.3B - Other payables

Salaries and wages 265,522 115,538
Superannuation 34,073 -
GST liabilities 118,799 4,640
Lease incentive 13,671 68,357 

Total other payables 432,065 188,535 

Other payables expected to be settled

No more than 12 months 432,065 188,535 

Total other payables 432,065 188,535 

Suppliers expected to be settled

Total suppliers
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL POSITION
This section analyses the company's assets used to conduct its

operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.  
2018 2017

$ $

2.3C - Unearned Income

Unearned Income 1,117,486 814,361 

Total unearned income 1,117,486 814,361 

Income has been received in advance for sponsorship of ASPI programs for the financial year
 2018/2019.

2.3D - Other provisions
Provision for restoration 290,887 285,631 

Total other provisions 290,887 285,631 

Other provisions expected to be settled
No more than 12 months 290,887 285,631
More than 12 months - -

Total other provisions 290,887 285,631 

285,631 
Additional provision made -
Unwinding of discount 5,256 

290,887 Total as at 30 June 2018

ASPI currently has one (2017: 1) agreement for the leasing of premises which have provisions requiring 
the restoration of the premises to their original condition at the conclusion of the lease.  ASPI has made a 
provision to reflect the present value of this obligation.

As at 1 July 2017
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
FINANCIAL POSITION
This section analyses the company's assets used to conduct its

operations and the operating liabilities incurred as a result.  
2018 2017

$ $

2.3E -  Cash Flow Reconciliation

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per statement of
financial position and cash flow statement

Cash and cash equivalents as per
Cash flow statement                3,497,393                     2,867,773 
Statement of financial position                3,497,393                     2,867,773 

Discrepancy                                   -                                       - 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash from
operating activities

Net contribution by/(cost of) services 449,073 334,029                       

Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation / Amortisation 220,004                         321,784 
Disposal and write down of non financial assets 12,910                                       - 
Unrealised Foreign Exchange (Gain)/Loss - ( 71)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (500) -                                     

                   232,414                         321,713 

Movements in assets and liabilities

Assets
Decrease/(Increase) in Net receivables (502,369) (49,545)
Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments 50,492 (22,508)

Liabilities
Increase/(Decrease) in Supplier payables (107,476) 81,767
Increase/(Decrease) in Other payables 243,530 (72,639)
Increase/(Decrease) in Unearned income 303,125 284,841 
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions 9,788 (42,351)

Net cash from operating activities 678,577 835,307
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
PEOPLE AND RELATIONSHIPS
This section describes a range of employment and post

employment benefits provided to our people and our 

relationships with other key people.  
2018 2017

$ $
3.1 - Employee Provisions

3.1A - Employee provisions
Annual leave 380,753 368,453 
Long service leave 443,642 451,410 

Total employee provisions 824,395 819,863 

Employee provisions expected to be settled
No more than 12 months 186,569 358,570 
More than 12 months 637,826 461,293 

Total employee provisions 824,395 819,863 

Accounting policy

Leave

The liability for defined benefits is recognised in the financial statements of the Australian Government 
and is settled by the Australian Government in due course.  This liability is reported in the Department of 
Finance's administered schedules and notes.

ASPI makes employer contributions to the employees' defined benefit superannuation scheme at rates 
determined by an actuary to be sufficient to meet the current cost to the Government.  ASPI accounts for 
the contributions as if they were contributions to defined contribution plans.

Liabilities for short term employee benefits and termination benefits expected within twelve months of 
the end of the reporting period are measured at their nominal amounts.

Other long term employee benefits are measured as net total of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period.

The liability for employee benefits includes provision for annual leave and long service leave.  The leave 
liabilities are calculated on the basis of employees' remuneration at the estimated salary rates that will 
be applied at the time the leave is taken, including ASPI's employer superannuation contribution rates to 
the extent that the leave is likely to be taken during service rather than paid out on termination.  The 
estimate of the present value of the liability takes into account attrition rates and pay increases through 
promotion and inflation.

Superannuation

ASPI's staff are members of the Public Sector Superannuation Scheme, or the PSS accumulation plan 
(PSSap) or other superannuation funds held outside the Australian Government.  The PSS is a defined 
benefit scheme for the Australian Government.  The PSSap is a defined contribution scheme.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
PEOPLE AND RELATIONSHIPS
This section describes a range of employment and post

employment benefits provided to our people and our 

relationships with other key people.  

3.2 - Directors and Senior Management Personnel Remuneration

2018 2017
$ $

Short term employee benefits
Salary                    271,600                         271,218 
Performance bonuses                       47,397                           46,509 

Total short term employee benefits                    318,997                         317,727 

Other long term employee benefits
Annual leave                       20,855                           17,407 
Long Service Leave                         4,521  - 

Total other long term employee benefits                       25,376                           17,407 

Post Employment Benefits
Superannuation                       53,712                           53,087 

Total post employment benefits benefits                       53,712                           53,087 

Total senior executive remuneration expenses                    398,085                         388,221 

One Council member was remunerated for sitting on both the Council and the Audit Committee 

8 of the 9 executives are part time Council members and the remaining member is the full time Executive 
Director of ASPI.  Remuneration for both Council members and the Executive Director are subject to 
Remuneration Tribunal Determinations.

The total number of directors and senior management personnel that are included in the above table are 9. 
(2017: 9)

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly.  ASPI has determined the key management personnel 
to be its Council members and the Executive Director.  Key management personnel remuneration is reported in 
the table below:

of ASPI for 2018.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
PEOPLE AND RELATIONSHIPS
This section describes a range of employment and post

employment benefits provided to our people and our 

relationships with other key people.  

3.3 - Related Party Disclosures

Refer to Note 3.1 Employee Provisions for details on superannuation arrangements with the Public Sector 
Superannuation Scheme (PSS) and the PSS accumulation plan (PSSap).  A key management personnel was a 
Director of the Commonwealth Superannuation Corporation which is trustee to the PSS and PSSap 
superannuation schemes.

Transactions with related parties
Given the breadth of Government activities, related parties may transact with the government sector in the same 
capacity as ordinary citizens.  Such transactions include the payment or refund of taxes, receipt of a Medicare 
rebate or higher education loans.  These transactions have not been separately disclosed in this note.

The following transactions with related parties occurred during the financial year:

During the year, ASPI received sponsorship from the following companies of which ASPI Council members are 
non-executive directors:
- Airbus Group Asia Pacific
- Senatas Corporation Limited
ASPI transacts with other Australian Government controlled entities and other Australian government entities 
consistent with normal day-to-day business operations provided under normal terms and conditions, including 
the payment of workers compensation and insurance premiums.  These are not considered individually 
significant to warrant separate disclosure as related party transactions.

ASPI is a Commonwealth Government wholly owned not for profit company.  Related parties to this entity are 
ASPI's Council members, the ASPI Executive Director and other Australian Government entities.

Related  party relationships
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
MANAGING UNCERTAINTIES
This section analyses how ASPI manages financial risks
within its operating environment.

4.1 Contingent Assets and Liabilities

ASPI had no contingent assets or contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2018. (2017: Nil)

Accounting policy

2018 2017
$ $

4.2 - Financial Instruments

4.2A - Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets
Loans and receivables

Cash at bank 3,497,093 2,867,473
Cash on hand 300 300
Receivables for goods and services 746,018 243,649

Total loans and receivables 4,243,411 3,111,422

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Trade creditors 56,030 145,947
Accrued supplier expenses 94,741 112,300

Total financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 150,771 258,247

4.2B - Net gains or losses on financial assets

Loans and receivables
Interest revenue 90,406 77,576

Net gains on loans and receivables 90,406 77,576

Net gains on financial assets 90,406 77,576

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are reported in the notes.  
They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence of a liability or represent a liability in respect of which the 
amount cannot be reliably measured.  Contingent liabilities are disclosed when settlement is greater than 
remote.

There is no interest income from financial assets not at fair value through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income for 2018 or 2017.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
MANAGING UNCERTAINTIES
This section analyses how ASPI manages financial risks
within its operating environment.

Accounting policy

Financial Assets

a) financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;

d) loans and receivables.

Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.  Financial liabilities are recognised and derecognised upon 
trade date.
Supplier and other payables are recognised at amortised cost.  Liabilities are recognised to the extent that the goods or 
services have been received (and irrespective of having been invoiced).

ASPI classifies its financial assets in the following categories:

b) held to maturity investments;

c) available for sale financial assets; and

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition.  Financial assets are recognised and derecognised upon trade date.

Financial assets held at cost - if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the 
impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate for similar assets.

Financial Liabilities

Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
MANAGING UNCERTAINTIES
This section analyses how ASPI manages financial risks
within its operating environment.

4.2C - Credit risk

Credit quality of financial assets not past due or individually determined as impaired

Not Past Due 
Nor Impaired

2018
$

Not Past Due 
Nor Impaired

2017
$

Past Due or 
Impaired

2018
$

Past Due or 
Impaired

2017
$

Cash at bank 3,497,093 2,867,473                                    -                                - 
Cash on hand 300 300                                    -                                - 
Trade and other receivables 76,437 199,033 44,616
Total 3,573,830 3,066,806                                    - 44,616

Ageing of financial assets that were past due but not impaired for 2017-2018

0 to 30 days
$

31 to 60 days
$

61 to 90 days
$

90+ days
$

Total
$

Trade and other receivables                 520,073               149,508                                    -                                -                    669,581 
Total                 520,073               149,508                                    -                                -                    669,581 

Ageing of financial assets that were past due but not impaired for 2016-2017

0 to 30 days
$

31 to 60 days
$

61 to 90 days
$

90+ days
$

Total
$

Trade and other receivables                       7,100                         850                                     -                    36,666                       44,616 
Total                       7,100                         850                                     -                    36,666                       44,616 

ASPI has some exposure to credit risk in respect to receivables for goods and services rendered.  However, the majority 
of loans and receivables are cash.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is the risk that arises from potential default of 
a debtor.  

ASPI holds no collateral to mitigate against credit risk.

ASPI manages its credit risk by entering into contractual arrangements for supplies where the monetary consideration  
is significant, and through adoption of policy and procedures guiding debt recovery techniques.

This amount is equal to the total amount of receivables for goods and services (2017-18: $746,018 and 2016-17: 
$243,649).  ASPI has assessed the risk of default on payment as nil.
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Australian Strategic Policy Institute Ltd
MANAGING UNCERTAINTIES
This section analyses how ASPI manages financial risks
within its operating environment.

ASPI has an interest bearing financial asset, being cash at bank.  Cash at bank is subject to a floating interest rate.  It is 
considered that the impact of changes in the market interest rate would have an immaterial effect on ASPI's profit and 
loss. 

ASPI's financial liabilities consist only of payables.

It is highly unlikely that ASPI will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities as it 
is substantially funded under a funding agreement with the Department of Defence.  ASPI supplements its funding with 
income from sales of goods and services.  In addition, ASPI has adopted internal procedures to ensure there are 
appropriate resources to meet financial obligations and timely payments are made.

ASPI has no past experience of default.

ASPI's financial liabilities for 2018 are all payable within 1 year.  ASPI's financial liabilities for 2017 were all payable 
within 1 year.

4.2E - Market risk

ASPI holds basic financial instruments that do not expose it to certain market risks.  ASPI has very minor exposure to 
'currency risk' or 'other price risk'.  In addition, ASPI has no interest bearing financial liabilities.

4.2D - Liquidity risk
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Annex A 

ASPI PUBLICATIONS

STRATEGIES

Australia and Germany: a new strategic energy partnership
Vlado Vivoda
6 July 2017

People smugglers globally, 2017
John Coyne and Madeleine Nyst
24 October 2017

More than submarines: New dimensions in the Australia–France 
strategic partnership
Jacinta Carroll and Theodore Ell
20 December 2017

Australia’s future in space
Malcolm Davis
22 February 2018

STRATEGIC INSIGHTS

Big data in national security
Michael Chi
3 August 2017

Coordination of federal, state and local disaster management arrangements in 
Australia: lessons from the UK and the US
Michael Eburn
4 August 2017

The strategic risks of East Asia’s slowing economies
Tim Johnston
24 August 2017

The 2017 Independent Review of Intelligence: Views from The Strategist
James Clapper, Andrew Davies, Peter Edwards, Fergus Hanson and Peter Jennings
7 September 2017
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Australia’s offshore patrol vessels: Missing an opportunity?
Ben Coleman
2 November 2017

Australia’s Management of strategic risk in the new era
Paul Dibb and Richard Brabin-Smith
15 November 2017

Preventing and countering violent extremism in Africa: Mining and 
Australia’s interests
Lisa Sharland
23 November 2017

Understanding the BRI in Africa and the Middle East
Isaac Kfir
13 February 2018

Project LAND 400: Defining the army
Ben Coleman
16 February 2018

North Korea and the ANZUS Treaty
Alison Pert
4 April 2018

Putin and North Korea: Exploring Russian interests around the peninsula
Jacqueline Westermann
9 May 2018

WPS: Addressing the gaps and strengthening implementation
Lisa Sharland and Jacqueline Westermann
10 May 2018

Shifts in ROK approaches to the DPRK under President Moon
Dr Lauren Richardson
15 May 2018

The next big grey thing: Choosing Australia’s future frigate
Andrew Davies, Michael Shoebridge and James Mugg
21 May 2018

Australia in space: Views from The Strategist
Malcolm Davis
13 June 2018
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SPECIAL REPORTS

‘Santa Muerte’, are the Mexican cartels really coming?
John Coyne
11 July 2017

China’s expanding interests in Antarctica
Anne-Marie Brady
16 August 2017

The challenge of energy resilience in Australia
Neil Greet and Paul Barnes
24 August 2017

UN Elections: Australia’s approach
Sally Weston
13 October 2017

From little things: Quantum technologies and their application to defence
Andrew Davis and Patrick Kennedy
22 November 2017

Preventing and countering violent extremism in Africa: The role of the mining sector
Lisa Sharland, Tim Grice and Sara Zeiger
23 November 2017

The virtual meets reality: Policy implications of e-diasporas
Deirdre McKay
13 December 2017

Contested skies: Our uncertain air superiority future
Peter Layton
30 January 2018

BEARing back: Russia’s military power in the Indo-Asia–Pacific under Vladimir Putin
Alexey D Muraviev
15 February 2018

Australia as an ASEAN Community partner
Graeme Dobell
20 February 2018
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New Zealand, Australia and the ANZUS alliance: Interests, identity and strategy
Mark Thomson
21 February 2018

3rd Australia–Europe Counter-Terrorism Dialogue: Transforming the new 
threat landscape
Isaac Kfir and Katja Theodorakis
27 February 2018

Terrorism in the Indo-Pacific: Glocalism comes of age
Isaac Kfir
22 May 2018

A primer on the ideological and theological drivers of AQ and Daesh: Al-Qaedaism
Isaac Kfir
4 June 2018

National security in the Philippines under Duterte: Shooting from the hip or 
pragmatic partnerships beyond the noise?
Dr Peter Chalk
20 June 2018

INTERNATIONAL CYBER POLICY CENTRE

Policy Brief: The internet of insecure things
Eliza Chapman and Tom Uren
19 March 2018

Policy Brief: Australia’s offensive cyber capability
Fergus Hanson and Tom Uren
10 April 2018

Policy Brief: Weibo diplomacy and censorship in China
Fergus Ryan
29 May 2018

Policy Brief: Deterrence in cyberspace
Chris Painter
1 June 2018
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Issues Paper: When the winner takes it all: Big data in China and the battle 
for privacy
Lotus Ruan
22 June 2018

Policy Brief: Who funds federal parliamentarians’ overseas travel?
Jessica Clarence
26 June 2018

Policy Brief: Social credit: Technology-enhanced authoritarian control with 
global consequences
Samantha Hoffman
28 June 2018

Policy Brief: Technological entanglement: Cooperation, competition and the  
dual-use dilemma in artificial intelligence
Elsa B. Kania
28 June 2018

CT QUICK LOOKS

Manchester Arena bombing, 22 May 2017
Jacinta Carroll and Micah Batt
28 July 2017

YEARBOOKS

Cyber maturity in the Asia–Pacific region 2017
Tom Uren, Fergus Hanson, Fergus Ryan, Michael Chi, Jack Viola and Eliza Chapman
12 December 2017

Counterterrorism yearbook 2018
Isaac Kfir, Sofia Patel and Micah Batt
27 March 2018

The cost of Defence: ASPI defence budget brief 2018–2019
Marcus Hellyer
24 May 2018
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DISCUSSION PAPERS

Australia as an ASEAN Community partner
Graeme Dobell
13 November 2017

ASPI CASE STUDIES

Rearming the Anzacs
Robert Macklin
7 December 2017

THE STRATEGIST
1,046 posts by 285 individual authors.
July 2017 – June 2016
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Annex B 

ARTICLES AND BOOK CHAPTERS BY ASPI STAFF

Peter Jennings
• ‘Prospects for the Australia–Indonesia defence relationship’, in Tim Lindsey, Dave McRae 

(eds), Strangers next door: Indonesia and Australia in the Asian century, Hart Publishing, 
Oxford, 2018, pp. 107–124

Lisa Sharland
• How peacekeeping policy gets made: navigating intergovernmental processes at the UN, 

International Peace Institute, New York, May 2018

Patrick Walters
• ‘From Gallipoli to the Western Front: the AIF in transition 1915–16’, in Michael LoCicero (ed.),  

Two sides of the same bad penny—Gallipoli and the Western Front: a comparison, Helion, 
London, 2018

Fergus Ryan
• ‘Kevin Rudd thinks he’s still relevant to China–Australia relations’, Crikey, 26 April 2018

• ‘China’s censorship now affects all of us’, The National Interest, 27 February 2018

• ‘An Orwellian future is taking shape in China’, Sydney Morning Herald, 8 January 2018

Brendan Nicholson
• Published 15 pieces in The Australian, mostly on the newspaper’s defence pages, two on the 

front page. One of those was the main story or ‘splash’. The other was an analysis.

• Another news story based on a speech Australian Federal Police Commissioner Andrew 
Colvin made at ASPI ran inside the paper but on the news page.

• Helped prepare several pieces written by ASPI colleagues for publication in The Australian.

Isaac Kfir

Book reviews:

• John L Esposito, John O Voll, Tamara Sonn, ‘Islam and democracy after the Arab Spring’, 
Democratization, 6 June 2018

• Henri Lauzière, ‘The making of Salafism: Islamic reform in the twentieth century’, Journal of 
Islamic Studies, 28 February 2018, 29(3):474–476
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Annex C 

OPINION PIECES BY ASPI STAFF

July 2017

‘How communities and governments can come together to counter violent extremism’, 
Anthony Bergin and Keith Thomas, APPS Policy Forum, 3 July 2017

‘Australia’s drug strategy is out of date, but that’s just the start of the problem’, John Coyne, 
The Huffington Post, 3 July 2017

‘The Quad redux’: casting off the albatross, David Lang, China Matters, 3 July 2017

‘All North Korea options are bad but a plan is still needed’, Peter Jennings, Australian Financial 
Review, 6 July 2017

‘Parliament and national security: challenges and opportunities’, Anthony Bergin, APH Senate 
website, 7 July 2017

‘Modi visits Bibi: Israel making waves in the Indo-Pacific’, Anthony Bergin, The Australian, 
8 July 2017

‘A robot revolution is coming to a workplace near you’, Fergus Hanson, The Australian, 
8 July 2017

‘North Korea crisis is the defining test for the G20’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
8 July 2017

‘Fisheries diplomacy and the South China Sea’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 13 July 2017

‘The pros and cons of a mega department of homeland security’, John Coyne, The Huffington 
Post, 17 July 2017

‘Calling in the army no magic bullet for terrorism threat’, John Coyne, Sydney Morning Herald, 
17 July 2017

‘A strategic boost from a common approach to national security’, Jacinta Carroll, 
Australian Financial Review, 18 July 2017

‘The home affairs department’, Peter Jennings and Michelle Grattan, The Conversation, 
The Politics podcast, 20 July 2017
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‘Mosul after ISIS’, Peter Jennings, Tom Switzer and Peter Leahy, Between the lines, ABC RN, 
20 July 2017

‘Secrecy surrounds cyber warfare team in Canberra’, Fergus Hanson, The Australian, 22 July 2017

‘Intelligence review: design for a secure home’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
22 July 2017

‘Clear and present danger’, Jacinta Carroll, The Australian, 31 July 2017

‘We need to fix the public’s trust issues with the home affairs super department’, John Coyne, 
The Huffington Post, 31 July 2017

August 2017

‘Photo ID checks for domestic passengers are literally a waste of time’, Anthony Bergin,  
The Age, 7 August 2017

‘Australia can do better than THAAD or Iron Dome defences’, Peter Jennings, The Australian, 
7 August 2017

‘China’s Indian Ocean power play’, Anthony Bergin and David Brewster, APPS Policy Forum, 
9 August 2017

‘Corruption in Australian Border Force is devastating news for public trust in law enforcement’, 
John Coyne, The Huffington Post, 10 August 2017

‘Devastating war between US and North Korea edges closer’, Peter Jennings, Herald Sun, 
11 August 2017

‘North Korea and the case for ANZUS’, Malcolm Davis, Australian Financial Review, 
14 August 2017

‘North Korea: there’s no point sleepwalking to war’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
14 August 2017

‘Barcelona terror attack: lessons for Australia’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
19 August 2017

‘Australia must prepare tourist operators for terror’, Anthony Bergin, Australian Financial 
Review, 20 August 2017

‘Academic work gives national security an intelligent edge’, Anthony Bergin, The Australian, 
23 August 2017
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‘Terms of engagement’, Anthony Bergin, Policy Forum, 23 August 2017

‘Trump’s South Asian adventure’, Peter Jennings, Australian Financial Review, 24 August 2017

‘A space agency for Australia a must have’, Malcolm Davis, The Australian, 25 August 2017

September 2017

‘Replacing the tiger’, Malcolm Davis, The Australian, 1 September 2017

‘Speed and mass—the future of war’, Malcolm Davis, The Australian, 1 September 2017

‘Free speech at stake in new public service social media guidelines’, Danielle Cave,  
The Canberra Times, 5 September 2017

‘Tightening the net around international online criminals’, Fergus Hanson, The Australian, 
16 September 2017

‘Terror we can avoid’, Anthony Bergin, The Australian, 18 September 2017

‘The government’s new ice disruption strategy isn’t that new’, John Coyne, The Huffington 
Post, 21 September 2017

‘A threatening climate’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 28 September 2017

October 2017

‘Is Australia ready for natural disasters?’, Anthony Bergin, The Australian, 2 October 2017

‘Domestic security shakeup’, John Coyne, Australian Security Magazine, 5 October 2017

‘Feeling secure with facial recognition, unless at a Chinese loo’, Fergus Hanson, The Australian, 
7 October 2017

‘Safety in numbers’, Anthony Bergin and Jason Brown, APPS Policy Forum, 10 October 2017

‘Dubai airport’s new virtual aquarium tunnel and what it means for the future of border 
security’, John Coyne, The National (UAE Edition), 12 October 2017

‘Information-sharing among agencies key to national security’, Anthony Bergin, The Australian, 
13 October 2017

‘Intelligence: the devil is in the detail’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 18 October 2017

‘I’m glad our security agencies are stretched’, John Coyne, The Huffington Post, 20 October 2017
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‘Africa’s prosperity depends on security, and Australia has role’, Anthony Bergin, The Australian, 
23 October 2017

‘Intelligence is no dark art’, John Coyne, APPS Policy Forum, 26 October 2017

November 2017

‘China wants to make the world web less wide and run its own splinternet’, Fergus Ryan,  
The Huffington Post, 1 November 2017

‘A true blue Facebook nation anxious about cyberspace’, Danielle Cave, The Interpreter, 
3 November 2017

‘Will Trump be able to tweet from behind the great firewall of China?’, Fergus Ryan,  
The Huffington Post, 8 November 2017

‘ACT Policing needs to think beyond “banging up crooks”’, John Coyne, The Canberra Times, 
13 November 2017

‘American power, where art thou?’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 17 November 2017

‘Preparing for the war of 2020’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australia, 18 November 2017

‘Australia as a peacebuilder in Myanmar’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 23 November 2017

‘Common challenges provide the platform for regional cooperation’, Anthony Bergin, 
The Australian, 27 November 2017

‘Your personal data’s been stolen. Wouldn’t you like to know?’, Tom Uren, The Australian, 
30 November 2017

December 2017

‘AI wanted on ground to protect and attack’, Nathan Finney, The Australian, 1 December 2017

‘North Korea on track for a global crisis in 2018’, Peter Jennings, Herald Sun, 1 December 2017

‘Devil in the detail of national security legislation’, Peter Jennings, The Australian, 
7 December 2017

‘China–Australia relations likely to remain strong despite influence-buying row’, Peter Jennings, 
The Weekend Australian, 9 December 2017

‘Hacking your health’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 11 December 2017
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‘At last, we’re awake to China’s predatory meddling’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
16 December 2017

‘Home Affairs Ministry: a commonwealth of ideas, not empire of rules’, Anthony Bergin, 
Australian Financial Review, 21 December 2017

‘Threat posed by evil nations and criminals in cyber-land is rising’, Tom Uren, The Australian, 
27 December 2017

January 2018

‘A role for mining in protection from extremism’, Lisa Sharland, Tim Grice and Sara Zeiger, 
Paydirt Magazine, 1 January 2018

‘An Orwellian future is taking shape in China’, Fergus Ryan, Sydney Morning Herald, 
8 January 2018

‘China everywhere’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 12 January 2018

‘Sleeping beauty awakens—a kiss for European common defense’, Jacqueline Westermann, 
Real Clear Defense, 18 January 2018

‘Expansion through crisis’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 19 January 2018

‘Bully for Beijing’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 24 January 2018

February 2018

‘Towards an Indo-Pacific strategic partnership’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 
2 February 2018

‘We need a joined-up security strategy for a dangerous world’, Anthony Bergin,  
Australian Financial Review, 5 February 2018

‘ASEAN: different strokes for different folks, but future should be in sync’, Dr Huong Le Thu,  
The Interpreter, 8 February 2018

‘On snubbing and targeting allies’, Jacqueline Westermann, Real Clear Defense, 9 February 2018

‘Asia’s rise: the rules and the rulers’, Graeme Dobell, Inside Story, 15 February 2018
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March 2018

‘Australia’s defence diplomacy’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 9 March 2018

‘Shared vision behind Australia’s new strategic friendship with Vietnam’, Dr Huong Le Thu, 
Australian Financial Review, 12 March 2018

‘Let’s stop pretending democracies keep the world safe’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 
20 March 2018

‘Australia is right to push back against desperate and dangerous Russia’, Peter Jennings,  
The Australian, 28 March 2018

‘The rise of Leninist autocracies threatens Australia’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
31 March 2018

April 2018

‘Australia and ASEAN’s evolving counter-terrorism regime’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 
6 April 2018

‘Existential threat could drive new mass migration crisis’, John Coyne, APPS Policy Forum, 
8 April 2018

‘Australia’s cyber warfare capabilities need public debate’, Tom Uren, The Australian, 
9 April 2018

‘Why science gets shut out of policy’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 12 April 2018

‘Leadership requires courage in the Pacific’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
14 April 2018

‘What Australia’s wastewater reveals about the country’s drug problem’, John Coyne,  
APPS Policy Forum, 14 April 2018

‘CHOGM chance to push India as counter to China in the Pacific’, Anthony Bergin,  
The Australian, 18 April 2018

‘Australia needs to assert its interests in Washington’, Peter Jennings, The Weekend Australian, 
28 April 2018
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May 2018

‘Macron trip a chance for Australia and France to sing in tune’, Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy 
Forum, 1 May 2018

‘A primer on countering terrorism’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 2 May 2018

‘Could Thailand become a global people smuggling destination?’, John Coyne, The Nation 
(Thailand), 4 May 2018

‘China and Australia’s fifth icy age’, Graeme Dobell, Inside Story, 10 May 2018

‘Iran’s hackers likely to target Trump for pulling out of nuclear deal’, Danielle Cave and Tom 
Uren, The Australian, 11 May 2018

‘Ignoring Bangladesh at our peril’, Isaac Kfir, APPS Policy Forum, 15 May 2018

‘Flying in the face of evidence’, John Coyne and Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 18 May 2018

‘Mahathir challenged by own legacy’, Dr Huong Le Thu, Taipei Times, 20 May 2018

‘Australian diplomacy’s creation story’, Graeme Dobell, Inside Story, 23 May 2018

June 2018

‘Will Australia’s intelligence review tackle information hoarding and public scepticism?’, John 
Coyne and Anthony Bergin, APPS Policy Forum, 1 June 2018

‘The technical reasons why Huawei is too great a 5G risk’, Tom Uren, Australian Financial Review, 
14 June 2018

‘Declassify the Garnaut ASIO report’, Tom Uren, Australian Financial Review, 27 June 2018

‘Government must protect critical infrastructure from external control’, Peter Jennings,  
The Weekend Australian, 30 June 2018
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Annex D 

ASPI EVENTS

International conferences

No. Date Name of conference

1 13–15 June ASPI International Conference: Building Australia’s strategy  
for space

Formal dinners

No. Date Name of dinner

1 28 September ASPI – Lockheed Martin White Ensign Dinner with Vice Admiral Tim 
Barrett AO CSC RAN

2 20 November Dinner: ‘Securing Australia’s space industry 2017’, in partnership 
with Lockheed Martin and Space Industry Association of Australia

3 22 November ASPI – BAE Systems Dinner: Bipartisan Australian Defence Agreement

4 7 May 2018 Annual Gala Dinner

5 24 May Dinner: Launch of The cost of Defence: ASPI defence budget brief 
2018–2019

International strategic dialogues

No. Date Name of dialogue

1 31 October – 
4 November 

ASPI–BESA Beersheba Dialogue

2 November ASPI – Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Counterterrorism Dialogue

3 3–4 May Australia–Indonesia–US Trilateral
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Roundtables 

No. Date Name of event

1 11 July Regional security discussion—Mr Akira Igata and  
Mr Toshifumi Kokubun

2 13 July Junior Army officers introduction to ASPI

3 24 July Roundtable—Mr Ahmet Uzumcu from the Organisation for the 
Prohibition of Chemical Weapons

4 27 July Brisbane roundtable—General Robert B Brown, Commanding 
General USARPAC 

5 31 July Roundtable—Admiral Michael S Rogers, US Navy, Commander, US 
Cyber Command, Director, National Security Agency, Chief, Central 
Security Service 

6 1 August Roundtable—Ms Ann K Ganzer, Director of Conventional 
Arms Threat Reduction, Bureau of International Security and 
Nonproliferation

7 11 August 2017 Roundtable—Mr Daniel Lerner, Professional Staff Member for 
Senate Armed Services Committee Cybersecurity Subcommittee 
and the Strategic Forces and Emerging Threats and Capabilities 
Subcommittee

8 16 August Roundtable—US delegation from the Center for Strategic and 
International Studies

9 16 August Roundtable—Dr Eran Lerman, former Deputy for Foreign Policy and 
International Affairs at Israel’s National Security Council

10 5 September Roundtable—Mr Urban Ahlin, Speaker of the Parliament of Sweden

11 12 September Roundtable—General Bajwa, Chief of Army Staff, Pakistan Army

12 26 September Roundtable—Mr Dan Eaton, Director of Policy, New Zealand 
Ministry of Defence 

13 26 September Roundtable—Dr Brad Roberts, Director, Center for Global  
Security Research

14 3 October Roundtable—Mr Francois Rivasseau, Director of Security and  
Space Policy, European External Action Service

15 11 October Roundtable—Air Commodore Tony McCormack, Deputy Chief of 
Operations, US Forces Korea
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No. Date Name of event

16 16 October Roundtable—Mr Jack Christofides, UN Department of 
Peacekeeping Operations

17 23 October Roundtable—Dr Tan-Sun Chen, former Minister for Foreign  
Affairs, Taiwan

18 23 October Roundtable—Mr Ben Flatgard, former Director of Cybersecurity on 
the US National Security Council 

19 30 October Roundtable—Dr Ahmed Abbadi, Secretary General of the League of 
Mohammedan Scholars

20 16 November Roundtable—HE Youssef Amrani, former Minister Delegate for 
Foreign Affairs of the Kingdom of Morocco

21 1 December Roundtable—Dr Robert Glasser, Assistant Secretary-General 
(Special Representative of the UN Secretary-General) for  
Disaster Risk Reduction

22 4 December Roundtable—Krzystof Szczerski, Secretary of State, Chief of the 
Cabinet of the President, Poland

23 6 December Roundtable—Dr Matthew Levitt, Senior Fellow,  
The Washington Institute

24 12 December Roundtable—Pakistan Foreign Study Tour 107th National 
Management Course

25 1 February Roundtable—Commander Keitaro Ushirogata

26 7 February Roundtable—TIAA 

27 8 February Roundtable—MITRE Corporation

28 19 February Roundtable—Mr Suriya Chindawongse

29 26 February Roundtable—Mr Jeremy Douglas, Regional Representative for 
Southeast Asia and the Pacific, UN Office on Drugs and Crime

30 1 March Roundtable—UK Ministry of Defence cyber and space policy 
contacts

31 5 March Roundtable—Chris Painter and US Embassy

32 6 March Roundtable—US Supreme Court on Third Offset Report 

33 14 March Roundtable—Sweden’s Regional Head of Mission’s meeting
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No. Date Name of event

34 20 March Roundtable—ASPI ICPC: ‘Should national identity data be 
considering critical infrastructure?’

35 4 April Roundtable—Chinese information warfare and influence 
operations, with Elsa Kania

36 4 April Roundtable—The challenge of translating science for (into) policy

37 5 April Roundtable—New Caledonia elections

38 11 April Roundtable—James Clad, Senior Adviser, Center for Naval Analyses

39 26 April Roundtable—Black hat exercise on ways national identity data 
could be attacked or manipulated

40 2 May Roundtable—JP Morgan Annual Country Risk Review

41 10 May Roundtable—Global voices

42 16 May Roundtable—Indonesian Ministry of Defence

43 17 May Roundtable—Swedish Armed Forces Asia Pacific Desk

44 18 May Roundtable—French Directorate General for IR and Strategy

45 18 May Roundtable—Michael S Chase, Senior Political Scientist, RAND 
Corporation

46 18 June Roundtable—Jonathan Spyer

47 20 June Roundtable—Lieutenant General Nguyen Duc Hai, Ministry of 
National Defence of Vietnam

48 22 June Roundtable—ANU undergraduates

49 27 June Roundtable—Gordon Flake on North Korea
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Special meetings

No. Date Name of event

1 24 July The Hon Christopher Pyne MP

2 29 August Dr Tom Kennedy, Chairman and CEO of Raytheon Company

3 31 August Senator Vern White and Australian Federal Police Executive

4 12 September General Bajwa, Chief of Army Staff, Pakistan Army

5 26 September Dr Brad Roberts, Director, Center for Global Security Research

6 29 September ASPI – US Studies Centre—Dr Brad Roberts, Director, Center for 
Global Security Research

7 8 November Australian Federal Police Commissioner Colvin 

8 30 November Mr Peter Altabef, CEO, Unisys

9 7 February BAE Systems 

10 19 March Jacobs Australia and The internet of insecure things launch 

11 5 April ICPC advisory meeting

12 16 April Tony Lindsay and Keoki Jackson, Lockheed Martin

13 20 April NATO Enhanced Partnership Group

14 21 June ICPC and DFAT meeting

Public events: panel discussions / publication launches / program launches

No. Date Name of Event

1 11 July In conversation—Michael Pezzullo, Secretary, Department of 
Immigration and Border Protection

2 24 July Public panel discussion—Developing a defence export strategy,  
the Hon Christopher Pyne MP

3 31 July ASPI public event—Admiral Michael S Rogers, US Navy, Commander, 
US Cyber Command, Director, National Security Agency, Chief, 
Central Security Service

4 3 August Report launch—Big data in national security, with Shadow Minister 
for Justice, Ms Clare O’Neil MP

5 24 August Public event—Launch of The challenge of energy resilience in 
Australia, with Minister for the Environment and Energy,  
the Hon Josh Frydenberg
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No. Date Name of Event

6 7 September In conversation—The 2017 Independent Intelligence Review

7 18 September WDSN: In conversation with Major General Patrick Cammaert

8 4 October Public address—Ms Frances Adamson, Secretary, DFAT

9 5 October Public panel discussion—International Cyber Engagement Strategy

10 12 October In conversation—Deputy Chief of Army Major General Rick Burr, 
‘Building human capacity in Defence’

11 24 October Report launch—People smugglers globally, 2017

12 15 November Report launch—Australia’s management of strategic risk in the  
new era

13 23 November Perth event: report launch—P/CVE in Africa: the role of the 
Australian mining sector

14 5 December Report launch—P/CVE in Africa: the role of the Australian  
mining sector

15 5 December WDSN panel—Australian defence industry culture

16 6 December Report launch—Rearming the Anzacs

17 12 December Report launch—Cyber maturity in the Asia–Pacific region

18 13 December Public event—Launch of Australian Federal Police Futures Strategy, 
with Commissioner Andrew Colvin

19 5 March Public address—Chris Painter 

20 19 March Report launch—The internet of insecure things 

21 22 March Public address—Elsa Kania, ‘China, technology and the future  
of warfare’

22 27 March Public event: report launch—Counterterrorism yearbook 2018

23 10 April CERT event—‘Stopping a cyber threat on our election:  
US and Australian experiences’

24 23 April Public event—Launch of Defence Industrial Capability Plan  
by the Hon Christopher Pyne MP

25 10 May Public event—WDSN speed mentoring

26 29 May Report launch—Weibo diplomacy and censorship in China

27 25 June Film screening—Death of Stalin 

28 28 June Public panel discussion—AI and China 
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Workshops, masterclasses and other

No. Date Name of class/workshop

1 27 September Nuclear Strategy Masterclass

2 29 September Junior staff briefing—Dr Brad Roberts, Director, Center for  
Global Security Research

3 7 December Briefing—ASPI briefing to KPMG National Security Team

4 14 December ASPI’s 2017 end-of-year celebration

5 20 December Planning meeting—EU–Australia Leadership Forum

6 28 February Cyber Masterclass

7 13 March State of the Region Masterclass, Canberra

8 15 March State of the Region Masterclass, Melbourne
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Annex E 

KEY ROLES AT INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCES

Staff member Conference

Peter Jennings Participated in the Australian American Leadership Dialogue in 
Washington, 10–12 July 2018, chairing a session on regional security.

Addressed the Royal Military College graduating class on ‘The crisis of 
2018’, Canberra, 22 June 2018.

Spoke at the 10th annual Honolulu Leadership Dialogue of the 
Australian–American Leadership Dialogue, 15–17 October 2017.

Spoke on the Asia–Pacific strategic outlook at the Asia–Pacific 
Regional Conference organised by the German–Australian Chamber of 
Commerce, Perth, 3–5 November 2017.

Lisa Sharland Presented and took part in a workshop hosted by the Global Center for 
the Responsibility to Protect on ‘Peacekeeping, civilian protection and 
the responsibility to protect’, New York, July 2017.

Presented research on the role of the mining sector in preventing 
and countering violent extremism in Africa at Hedayah’s Annual 
International CVE Conference, Antalya, Turkey, October 2017.

Chaired, presented and co-hosted a workshop with the permanent 
missions of Australia and Uruguay to the UN on the protection of 
civilians in UN peacekeeping, New York, December 2017.

Presented a report on the role of the mining sector in preventing and 
countering violent extremism in Africa at Mining Indaba, Cape Town, 
South Africa, February 2018.

Presented a report on ‘How peacekeeping policy gets made’ at a launch 
event co-hosted by the International Peace Institute, ASPI and the 
Permanent Mission of Australia to the UN, New York, May 2018.

Fergus Hanson Presented at the Jeju Forum, South Korea, 26 June 2018.
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Staff member Conference

Tom Uren Presented at Cyberspace, Information Strategy, and International 
Security Workshop hosted by the Center for Global Security 
Research, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, Livermore, US, 
27–28 February 2018.

Presented on Defining offensive cyber capabilities paper to the Global 
Commission on the Stability of Cyberspace in Bratislava, Slovakia.

Anne Lyons Invited to speak and conduct roundtable discussion on national 
identity data and data governance at National Geospatial-Intelligence 
Agency, Fort Belvoir, Virginia, US.

Danielle Cave Invited to speak at Track 1.5 Philippines–Australia security dialogue in 
Manila, hosted by the Griffith Asia Institute.

Bart Hogeveen Facilitated exercise ASEAN Cyber Risk Reduction Workshop, Singapore, 
December 2017.

Facilitated exercise ASEAN Cyber Risk Reduction Workshop, Bangkok, 
February 2017.



   Annexes  133

Annex F 

ACHIEVING ASPI’S PURPOSES

This table outlines how ASPI worked in 2017–18 to achieve our purposes, as listed in our 
corporate plan. It provides either specific information or references to the relevant chapter of 
the annual report.

Purpose How do we measure 
achievement?

What we achieved in 2017–18

Conduct and 
publish research

The number and type 
of publications and 
The Strategist pieces 
produced by ASPI, 
together with examples 
of how the publications 
have contributed to the 
national debate

Over six series of publications, 
48 publications were produced. There 
were 1,046 pieces on The Strategist from 
285 individual authors. Information about 
the contribution to the national debate of 
some of ASPI’s publications is in Chapter 3 
of this report. 

Provide an 
alternative source 
of strategic policy 
ideas and advice

Participation in 
government advisory 
committees and expert 
panels

ASPI staff were invited to participate in 
four government advisory committees and 
expert panels.

Submissions to 
parliamentary inquiries

ASPI provided nine submissions to 
parliamentary inquiries. A list of the 
submissions is in Chapter 1.

Stimulate public 
discussion

Number and range of 
ASPI public events

ASPI conducted 108 events during 
2017–2018. A list of the events is in  
Chapter 4.

Published opinion pieces 103 opinion pieces written by ASPI staff 
were published.

Examples of media 
coverage contributing to 
the national debate

Examples of media commentary are in 
Chapter 3.

Website, The Strategist 
and social media usage

Information and graphs of social media 
usage are in Chapter 1.
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Purpose How do we measure 
achievement?

What we achieved in 2017–18

Promote 
international 
understanding

Ranking in University of 
Pennsylvania’s Global Go 
To Think Tank Index

Information about ASPI’s ranking in the 
University of Pennsylvania’s Global Go To 
Think Tank Index is in Chapter 1.

Invitations to speak at 
international conferences

ASPI staff attended more than 
15 international conferences as speakers. 
See Annex A for more details.

Links with overseas think 
tanks

Information about ASPI’s links to other 
think tanks is in Chapter 1.

International Visiting 
Fellowships

ASPI hosted one international, five 
seconded and six appointed Visiting 
Fellows.

Participation in and 
hosting of international 
dialogues.

ASPI hosted 11 Track 1.5 and Track 2 
dialogues, and staff attended 11 dialogues. 
A list of the dialogues is in Chapter 1. 
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Purpose How do we measure 
achievement?

What we achieved in 2017–18

Develop expertise Number of interns whom 
ASPI supports

ASPI has an internship program that 
engages four interns on a six-monthly 
rotation.

Published pieces 
 by interns

Examples of reports, publications and 
The Strategist pieces with sole and 
co-authorship by interns in 2017–18 include:

Publication—The cost of Defence: ASPI 
defence budget brief 2018–2019

Publication—Who funds federal 
parliamentarians’ overseas travel?

Publication—People smugglers 
 globally, 2017

Publication—The internet of 
insecure things

Publication—Cyber maturity in the 
Asia–Pacific region 2017

The Strategist post—‘Women, peace and 
security finally on ASEAN’s agenda’

The Strategist post—‘Iraqi Kurdistan’s 
future on slippery ground’

Weekly wraps—Five domains wrap and 
national security wrap

Monthly wraps—Women, peace  
and security

Participants in 
ASPI professional 
development courses

ASPI conducted 53 courses and workshops. 
A detailed list is in Chapter 2.
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Annex G 

INDEX OF ANNUAL REPORT REQUIREMENTS

This index is included to meet the requirements of section 28E of the Public Governance, 
Performance and Accountability Rule 2014.

Content Location in  
the Rule

Location in  
this report

ASPI’s purposes s 28E(a) Chapter 1

Responsible minister s 28E(b) Chapter 1

Ministerial directions and government policy orders s 28E(c) – (e) Not applicable

Information about directors s 28E(f) Chapter 5

Organisational structure s 28E(g) Chapter 1

Location of organisation s 28E(h) Chapter 1

Corporate governance s 28E(i) Chapter 5

Related entity transactions s 28E(j) – (k) Not applicable

Significant activities and changes affecting the company s 28E(l) Not applicable

Judicial decisions and decisions by administrative tribunals s 28E(m) Not applicable

Reports by the Auditor-General, parliament, 
Commonwealth Ombudsman, Australian 
Information Commissioner or Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission

s 28E(n) Not applicable

Information from subsidiaries s 28E(o) Not applicable

Index identifying of requirements of Section 28E s 28E(p) Annex G

• The audited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
under the Corporations Act 2001; see Chapter 6.
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Annex H 

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ADF Australian Defence Force

APS Australian Public Service

ANU Australian National University

ASEAN Association of Southeast Asian Nations

ASPI-PD ASPI Professional Development

CTPC Counter-Terrorism Policy Centre

EL Executive Level

ICPC International Cyber Policy Centre

NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organization

RAAF Royal Australian Air Force

RAN Royal Australian Navy

SES Senior Executive Service

UN United Nations

WDSN Women in Defence and Security Network

WPS women, peace and security
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